
(TENTATIVE) BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 

November 15, 2022 – 5:00 PM 

Effingham County Administrative Complex 

804 South Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 

 

The Georgia Conflict of Interest in Zoning Action Statue (O.C.G.A. §§ 36-67A-1 et seq.) requires disclosure of certain 
campaign contributions made by applicants for rezoning actions and by opponents of rezoning application.  A rezoning 
applicant or opponent of a rezoning application must disclose contributions or gifts which in aggregate total $250.00 or 
more if made within the last two years to a current member of Effingham County Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
or other Effingham County official who will consider the application.  The campaign contribution disclosure requirement 
applies to an opponent of a rezoning application who publishes his or her opposition by appearance before the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners or by any other oral or written communication to a member or members of the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners.  Disclosure must be reported to the Board of Commissioners by applicants within ten 
(10) days after the rezoning application is filed and by opponents at least five (5) days prior to the first hearing by the 
Planning Board.  Any person knowing failing to comply with these requirements shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
“Individuals with disabilities who require special needs to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities should contact the County Clerk at 912-754-2123 
promptly to afford the County time to create reasonable accommodations for those persons.” 

**PLEASE TURN OFF YOUR CELL PHONE 
 

Agenda 

Watch us live on our YouTube page:  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ 
 

I. Call to Order 

II. Roll Call 

III. Invocation 

IV. Pledge to the American Flag 

V. Agenda Approval - Consideration of a resolution to approve the agenda 

VI. Minutes - Consideration to approve the October 3, 2022 special work session minutes and 
the October 4, 2022 regular meeting minutes 

VII. Public Comments - Comments shall pertain to the agenda items only.  Should you wish to 
make remarks, clearly state your full name into the microphone before commencing to speak 

VIII. Correspondence - Documents from this meeting are located in the Clerk's Office and on the 
Board of Commissioner's website. 

IX. Appearance - 5:15 pm 

Kelsie Glasco to discuss Keller Road 

X. Unfinished Business -  contains items held from a previous agenda 

1. [2022- 608 Ordinance/Second Reading] Teresa Concannon 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an Ordinance to amend Article II – 
Definitions; Article V - Uses Permitted in Districts, Section 5.6 - R-3 Multifamily 
Residential, Section 5.8 - R-6 Single Family Residential, and Section 5.17. R-5 Single 

1



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – November 15, 2022 

Family Traditional Neighborhood Design residential district of the Code of 
Ordinances (1st reading approved 11/01/2022) 

2. [2022-603 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by The McGraley Co., as 
Agent for Charles Layton to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres located on McCall Road and 
Racepath Road from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine Map# 391 Parcels# 11C & 
11F, Map# 412 Parcel# 24 in the Fourth District (this item was postponed at the 
November 1, 2022 meeting) 

3. [2022-604 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of  an application by The McGraley Co., as 
Agent for Charles Layton to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres located on McCall Road and 
Racepath Road from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine Map# 391 Parcels# 11C & 
11F, Map# 412 Parcel# 24 in the Fourth District (this item was postponed at the 
November 1, 2022 meeting) 

4. [2022-605 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by The McGraley Co. as Agent 
for Richard Hall to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres located on Horse Pen Road from AR-1 to I-
1, to allow for a surface mine Map# 394 Parcels# 29 & 30 in the Fourth District 

5. [2022-606 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by The McGraley Co. as 
Agent for Richard Hall to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres located on Horse Pen Road from AR-
1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine Map# 394 Parcels# 29 & 30 in the Fourth District 

XI. New Business 

1. [2022-609 Refund Request] Jennifer Keyes 

Consideration to approve a Tax Refund to Rex Allan Husband related to a property 
located at 213 Zittrouer Road, Map# 374A Parcel# 023 

2. [2022-610Task Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Task Order 23-REQ-007 with Hussey Gay Bell for the Clarence 
E. Morgan Gymnasium Expansion design and construction management 

3. [2022-611 Task Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Task Order 23-REQ-008 with Hussey Gay Bell for the Historic 
Central School renovation/restoration design and construction management 

4. [2022-612 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve to amend Change Order #1 for Contract 22-25-008-1 to Ranger 
Construction for the FDRE of Ash Roads 

5. [2022-613 Letter] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Letter of Intent for a  Lease Agreement between Effingham 
County Board of Commissioners and the State Properties Commission for the 
Department of Juvenile Justice, Lease #8588 

 

2



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – November 15, 2022 

 

6. [2022-614 Discussion] Teresa Concannon 

Discussion on revisions to Definitions and I-1 Zoning Districts 

7. [2022-615 Resolution] Teresa Concannon 

Consideration approve Resolution# 022-051 to approve a moratorium on rezoning for 
I-1 Industrial development, for a period of fifty (50) days 

8. [2022-616 Meeting] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to approve to cancel the December 20, 2022 Board of Commissioners 
Meeting  

XII. Reports from Commissioners & Administrative Staff 

XIII. Executive Session - Discussion of Personnel, Property and Pending Litigation 

XIV. Executive Session Minutes - No executive session was held, no minutes to be approved. 

XV. Adjournment 

3



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Amendments to Article II – Definitions; Article V - Uses Permitted in Districts, Section 

5.6. R-3 Multifamily; and Section 5.8. R-6 Single Family Residential 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 15, 2022  
Item Description: Consideration of the second reading to amend Article II – Definitions; Section 5.6. R-3 
Multifamily; and Section 5.8. R-6 Single Family Residential; and add a new Section 5.17. R-5 Single Family 
Traditional Neighborhood Design residential district. 
 
Summary Recommendation: In order to accommodate development proposals while promoting growth 
that is orderly and predictable, with the least amount of disturbance to landowners and to the citizens of the 
county, staff recommends approval of the revised Definitions, and R-3 and R-6 zoning districts, and the new 
R-5 zoning district. 
  
Executive Summary/Background:  

 The revisions include an update and expansion of Zoning Ordinance definitions, to clarify the 

county’s interest in promoting growth that is orderly and predictable, with the least amount of 

disturbance to landowners and to the citizens of the county: 

 Expanded information and guidance for development in the R-3 zoning district: 

o Define townhouse development standards 

 Eliminate future rezoning to R-6. 

 Create new R-5 single family TND zoning district: 

o Planned single family home communities (build to rent) requirements. 

o Design requirements including street width requirements, curb and gutter requirement; buffer 

and landscaping requirement for lots parallel to existing arterial, collector, and local roads. 

o Development standards for exterior materials, design, and landscaping. 

 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1 – Approve amendments to Article II – Definitions; Article V - Uses Permitted in Districts, Sections 5.6. R-3 
Multifamily Residential; 5.8. R-6 Single Family Residential, and new zoning district Section 5.17. R-5 Single 
Family Traditional Neighborhood Design residential district. 
2 – Take no action. 
 
Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: N/A 
 
Department Review: Development Services; County Attorney 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Attachments: 

1. Proposed ordinance revisions - 2nd Reading 

 
 

4

Item X. 1.



Page 1 of 19 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE II and V 

 OF THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND ARTICLE II and ARTICLE V OF THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

ZONING ORDINANCE AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting 

assembled and pursuant to lawful authority thereof: 

The following text is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

ARTICLE II. - DEFINITIONS  

For the purpose of the administration and enforcement of this ordinance, and unless otherwise stated 

in this ordinance, the following words shall have a meaning as indicated herein.  

Words used in the present tense shall include the future tense; words used in the singular number 

shall include the plural number; words used in the plural number shall include the singular number; the 

word "shall" is mandatory, not directory.  

2.1 Accessory buildings. A secondary residence, garage, or other building or structure subordinated 

to and not forming an integral part of the main or principal building on a lot or parcel but pertaining to the 

use of the main building.  

2.2 Advertising signs. A surface whereon advertising material is set in public view, including 

reference to any use of premises whereon it is displayed or posted.  

2.3 Alley. A narrow thoroughfare dedicated or used for public passageway up to 20 feet in width, 

which usually abuts the rear of the premises, or upon which service entrances or  

buildings abut, and which is not generally used as a thoroughfare by both pedestrians and vehicles, is not 

used for general traffic, and is not otherwise officially designated as a street. A way which affords only a 

secondary means of access to abutting property.  

2.4 Alteration. Any change in the arrangement of a building, including any work affecting the 

structural parts of a building; or an enlargement; or any change in wiring, plumbing, heating, or cooling 

system; and includes the words "to alter" and "alter."  

2.5 Apartment building. A building which is used or intended to be used as a home or residence for 

more than two families living in separate quarters.  

2.6 Automotive sales, services, and storage. The sale, service, or storage of new or used 

automobiles, including paint and body repair shops. Any business that stores automobiles shall only store 

automobiles that will be put back in use on the roadways of the United States.  

2.6.5 Bed and breakfast lodging facility. A transient accommodation with on site staff that provides 

no more than nine guestrooms. At least one meal shall be offered and served on the premises to registered 

evening guests. The facility must meet all requirements of the Effingham County Health Department 

parking requirements shall be the same as for hotels and motels.  

5

Item X. 1.



Page 2 of 19 

 

2.7 Boat house. A house or shed for sheltering one or more boats.  

2.8 Boundary of district. The centerline of a street or right-of-way or the centerline of an alleyway 

between the rear or side property lines, or, where no alley or passageway exists, the rear or side property 

lines or all lots bordering on any zoning district limits or any zoning district boundary shown on the maps 

adopted by section 4.2.  

2.9 Buildable area. That portion of any lot which may be used or built upon in accordance with the 

regulations governing the given zoning district within which the particular lot is located, once the various 

front, side, and rear yard requirements required for the district have been subtracted from the total lot 

area.  

2.10 Building. Any structure having a roof entirely separated from any other structure by space or by 

walls, having no communicating doors or windows or similar opening, and being erected for the purpose 

of providing support of shelter for persons, animals, things, or property of any kind, and having a 

foundation to which it is anchored.  

2.11 Building height. The height of a building with a gabled or hip roof shall be the vertical distance 

measured from the average elevation of the finished building site to the top of the roof of the uppermost 

story or to the deck line of a mansard roof. The height of a building with a flat or nearly flat roof, less 

than seven degrees from the horizontal, shall be measured from the footing as stated above to the highest 

point of the roof.  

2.12 Building line. A line delineating the minimum allowable distance between the street right-of-

way and nearest extreme projection of a building (including all areas covered by any vertical projections 

to the ground or overhang, walls, roof, or any other part of the structure).  

2.13 Building site. The ground area of a building or buildings together with all open spaces 

surrounded by said building or buildings.  

2.14 Building inspector. Any person hired by the county commissioners to inspect, determine 

compliance with, and render minor decisions concerning the compliance of structures and lots within 

Effingham County.  

2.15 Camper. A motor home, tent, trailer, or other self-contained vehicle designated for recreational 

purposes.  

2.16 Care homes. Includes rest and nursing homes, convalescent homes, and boarding homes for the 

aged established to render nursing care for chronic or convalescent patients, but excludes facilities for 

care of active or violent patients such as feebleminded or mental patients, epileptics, alcoholics, senile 

psychotics, or drug addicts.  

2.17 Centerline, highway. The line running parallel with the highway right-of-way which is halfway 

the distance between the extreme edges of the official right-of-way width as shown on maps approved by 

the county tax assessor.  

2.18 Certified survey. A survey, sketch, plat, map, or other exhibit is said to be certified when a 

written statement regarding its accuracy or conformity to specified standards is signed by the specified 

professional engineer, registered surveyor, architect, or other legally recognized person.  

2.19 Church. A legally approved structure and its accessory buildings used and approved on a 

permanent basis, primarily for the public worship of God.  

2.20 Club, private. An organization or association of persons for some common purpose, such as, 

but not necessarily limited to, a fraternal, social, educational, or recreational purpose, but not including 

clubs organized primarily for profit or to render a service, which is customarily carried on as a business. 

Such organizations and associations must be incorporated under the laws of Georgia as nonprofit 

corporations and such corporations' major purpose shall not be for the purpose of serving alcoholic 

6

Item X. 1.



Page 3 of 19 

 

beverages to its members or others. This may not be located on, or in connection with any commercial 

activity.  

2.21 Commissioners. The board of commissioners of Effingham County, which is the local 

governing authority for Effingham County.  

2.21.1 Common outdoor open space. areas accessible from all parts of the development. Common 

open space can include passive or active recreation area, pathways, swimming pools, and open areas for 

congregating. Ponds, lakes, buffers or other spaces that are not usable by the residents of a development 

for recreational purposes shall not be included in common outdoor open space. 

2.22 Conditional use. Those uses allowed within a district, only after specific requirements are met. 

The commissioners at their discretion may require additional restraints, restrictions, qualifications, or 

limiting factors upon a specific use so that it becomes acceptable. A public hearing shall be required with 

regard to all proposed conditional uses.  

2.22A Culvert. A sewer or drain crossing under a road, driveway, or embankment.  

2.23 Density. The number of units or buildings per acre, or the number of people per unit, building, 

acre, or mile; the quantity of people, structures, or units within a specified area.  

2.24 Depth of lot. The depth of lot is the depth between its mean front street line and its mean rear 

line, measured along the median between the two side lot lines.  

2.25 Dwelling. A building or portion of a building arranged or designed to provide living quarters 

for one or more families on a permanent or long-term basis.  

2.25.1 Condominium. A building or series of buildings on the same lot or portions thereof 

containing more than one dwelling unit under separate ownership with joint ownership of common 

open spaces.  

2.25.2 Duplex. A residential building designed for, or used as, the separate homes or residences of 

two separate and distinct families, but having the appearance of a single-family dwelling unit. Each 

individual unit in the duplex shall comply with the definition of single-family detached dwelling.  

2.25.3 Single-family detached dwelling. A building or structure designed for and occupied as a 

residence exclusively by one family.  

2.25.4 Site-built single-family detached dwelling. A single-family detached dwelling constructed on 

the building site from basic materials delivered to the site and constructed in accordance with all 

requirements of the building codes as adopted by the county.  

2.25.5 Class A single-family detached dwelling. A site-built single-family detached dwelling, a one-

family manufactured home, or a one-family industrialized home that meets or exceeds the 

compatibility standards for single-family dwellings under article III of the Zoning Ordinance of 

Effingham County, Georgia.  

2.25.6 Class B single-family detached dwelling. A site-built single-family detached dwelling, a one-

family manufactured home, or a one-family industrialized home that does not meet the compatibility 

standards for single-family dwellings under article III of the Zoning Ordinance of Effingham 

County, Georgia.  

2.25.7 Garden Apartment Community.  A low intensity, low-rise, apartment community comprised 

of two or three story buildings, each containing attached dwelling units Typically characterized by a 

garden-like setting, surrounded by lawns, trees, shrubbery, and gardens and/or interior courtyards. 

2.25.8 Multifamily. A building or collection of buildings that are designed for and occupied by 

three or more families and located on a single parcel. 

7

Item X. 1.



Page 4 of 19 

 

2.25. 9 Mixed-Use Residential. The mixing of principal residential uses with non-residential uses. 

Mixed use residential may occur by the following:  

a.  Non-residential and multifamily in the same building (e.g., retail on ground floor, multifamily 

above), or 

b. Multifamily and another primary non-residential use located in different buildings sited on the 

same lot or parcel (e.g., multifamily located on the same parcel as an office building).  

c. Both options shall be designed, located, and oriented on the site so that non-residential uses are 

directly accessible to residents of the development. For the purposes of this section, "directly 

accessible" shall mean pedestrian access by way of improved sidewalks or paths and streets that 

do not involve leaving the development or using a major thoroughfare. "Directly accessible" does 

not necessarily mean that non-residential uses need to be located in a particular location, but that 

the siting of such uses considers the accessibility of the residential component of the development 

to the non-residential use. Parking areas shall be designed to minimize distances between uses.  

2.25.10 Townhouse. A unit in a building with multiple dwelling units, where each unit is on an 

individual lot, shares a common sidewall, and is one to three stories in height.  

2.26 Dwelling unit. A structure or a portion of any structure designed, arranged and used for living 

quarters for one or more persons living as a single housekeeping unit with cooking facilities, but not 

including units in hotels, motels, boarding houses, or like uses.  

2.27 Dwelling, group. A building or portion of a building occupied or intended for occupancy by 

several unrelated persons or families, but in which separate cooking facilities are not provided for such 

resident persons or families. The term "group dwelling" includes, but is not limited to, roominghouses, 

apartment hotels, fraternity houses or sorority houses, Y.M.C.A., or Y.W.C.A. A hotel, motel, or tourist 

home shall not be deemed to be a group dwelling as herein defined.  

2.28 Reserved.  

2.29 Engineer. Any person having an acceptable degree from a recognized institution of higher 

learning who is capable of determining the correct manner in which to construct roads, streets, highways, 

water and sewerage systems, drainage system, structures, or other technically related areas. The person to 

be county engineer must be recognized by the State of Georgia as one.  

2.30 Estate. Any residential site comprising five acres or more shall come within the meaning of the 

word "estate."  

2.31 Reserved.  

2.32 Family. One person, or a group of two or more persons, living together and interrelated by 

bond or consanguinity, marriage, or legal adoption, occupying a dwelling unit as a single-family unit, 

with a single set of kitchen facilities.  

2.33 Floodprone areas. That land adjacent to a creek, stream, river, channel, canal, or other body of 

water that is designated as a floodplain or flood prone area by a governmental agency.  

2.34 Floor area. The sum of the gross floor area for each of the several stories under roof, measured 

from the interior limits or faces of a building or structure.  

2.35 Floor area ratio. Floor area of building or buildings on any lot divided by the area of the lot.  

2.36 Frontage. The distance or width of a parcel of land abutting a public right-of-way and as 

measured upon such right-of-way.  

2.37 Garage, community. A structure or series of structures under one roof, and under one 

ownership, for the storage of vehicles by three or more owners or occupants of property in the vicinity, 

where said structure has no public shop nor mechanical services in connection therewith.  

8

Item X. 1.



Page 5 of 19 

 

2.38 Garage, private. A structure for the private use of the owner or occupant of a principal 

building, situated on the same lot as the principal building for the storage of motor vehicles, with no 

facilities for mechanical service or repair of a commercial or public nature for profit.  

2.39 Garage, public. A structure for the storage, care, repair, or refinishing of motor vehicles, or a 

structure containing a public shop, or where automotive mechanical service is provided.  

2.40 Gas station. A structure designated or used for the retail sale or supply of fuel, lubricants, air, 

water, and other operating commodities for motor vehicles and including the customary spacing and 

facilities for the installation of such commodities on or in such vehicles, but not including space or 

facilities for the storage, painting, repair, refinishing, body work, or other servicing of motor vehicles.  

2.41 Highway. Any public thoroughfare of paving 22 feet or wider, including a street, which affords 

primary access to abutting property, and any thoroughfare of less width which is not classified as an alley 

(street).  

2.41A Historic structure. A structure that is at least 50 years old and meets one of the following 

requirements:  

2.41A.1 Listed on either the National or Georgia Register of Historic Places;  

2.41A.2 Eligible for listing on either the National or Georgia Register of Historic Places; or  

2.41A.3 Currently receiving or eligible to receive tax credits for rehabilitation of historic 

properties.  

2.42 Hospital. An institution providing health services, primarily for in-patients, and medical and 

surgical care of the sick or injured, including as an integral part of the institution such related facilities as 

laboratories, out-patient departments, training facilities, central service facilities, and staff offices.  

2.43 Hotel. A building occupied as the more or less temporary residence of individuals who are 

lodged, with or without meals, and in which there are ten or more sleeping rooms with entrances through 

a common lobby or office.  

2.44 Junk. Old and dilapidated automobiles, trucks, tractors, and other such vehicles and parts 

thereof, wagons and other kinds of vehicles and parts thereof, scrap building material, scrap piping, 

bottles, glass, old iron, machinery, rags, paper, excelsior, hair, mattresses, beds or bedding, or any other 

kind of scrap or waste materials which is stored, kept, handled, or displayed within the county limits.  

2.44A Industrialized home. A dwelling manufactured in accordance with the Georgia Industrialized 

Building Act (O.C.G.A. title 8, chapter 2, article 2, part 1) and the Rules of the Commissioner of the 

Georgia Department of Community Affairs issued pursuant thereto, bearing an insignia of approval issued 

by the commissioner.  

2.45 Junk yard. Any land or building used for commercial storage and/or sale of paper, rags, scrap 

metals, other scrap, or discarded materials, or for the dismantling, storage, or salvaging of automobiles or 

other vehicles not in running condition, or of machinery or parts thereof, but not to be used as a dump. A 

"junk yard" also includes any outdoor area that is used exclusively for the temporary storage of wrecked 

automobiles, which are automobiles that do not get repaired and put back in use on the roadways of the 

United States, provided that no work shall be performed on any wrecked automobile while it is in storage.  

2.46 Lot. Parcel of land shown on a recorded plat or on the zoning map, or any piece of land 

described by a legally recorded deed.  

2.47 Lot, corner. Any lot situated at the junction of and abutting on two or more intersections or 

intercepting streets or public highways. If the angle or intersection of the direction lines of two highways 

is more than 135 degrees, the lot fronting on said intersection is not a corner lot.  

2.48 Lot, interior. Any lot which is not a corner lot that has frontage only on one street other than an 

alley.  

9

Item X. 1.



Page 6 of 19 

 

2.49 Lot lines, front. In the case of a lot abutting upon only one street, the front lot line is the line 

separating such lot from such street. In the case of a corner lot, that part of the lot having the narrowest 

frontage on any street shall be considered the front lot line. In the case of any other lot, one such line shall 

be elected to be the front lot line for the purpose of this ordinance, provided it is so designated by the 

building plans which meet the approval of the building and zoning inspector.  

2.50 Lot lines, rear. The rear lot line is that boundary which is opposite and most distant from the 

front lot line. In the case of a lot pointed at the rear, or any odd-shaped lot, the rear lot line shall be 

determined by the building and zoning inspector.  

2.51 Lot lines, side. A side lot line is any lot boundary line not a front lot line or a rear lot line. A 

side lot line separating a lot from a street is an exterior side lot line. A side lot line separating a lot from 

another lot or lots is an interior side lot line.  

2.52 Lot, through. Any lot having frontage on two parallel or approximately parallel streets or other 

thoroughfares.  

2.52A Manufactured home. A dwelling fabricated in an off-site facility for installation or assembly 

at the building site, bearing a label certifying that it is constructed in compliance with the National 

Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. § 5401 et seq.).  

2.52A.1 Manufactured home site. A parcel of land designed and designated for the location of 

one manufactured home, its accessory buildings or structures, and accessory equipment for exclusive 

use of the home.  

2.52A.2 Manufactured home stand. That area of a manufactured home site which has been 

reserved for placement of a manufactured home.  

2.53 Mapped streets. A mapped street is any approved street shown on an official map or the 

projection of any existing street through an unsubdivided parcel of land, whether the street is dedicated or 

in existence or not.  

2.54 Marshland. All land subject to tidal action which is comprised of generally unstable soil 

materials commonly known as "hard or soft" marsh, which in its natural state is vegetated with marsh 

grass, reeds, and similar growth and is usually characterized by poor load-bearing capacity. Marshland 

lies below an elevation of six feet above mean sea level.  

2.55 Mobile home. A dwelling manufactured prior to June 15, 1976, which is transportable in one or 

more sections; in the traveling mode, is eight body feet or more in width or 40 body feet or more in 

length, or when erected on site, is 320 or more square feet in floor area; is built on a permanent chassis 

and designed to be used as a dwelling with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the 

required utilities; and includes the plumbing, heating, air-conditioning, and electrical systems contained 

therein. All mobile homes must be installed in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 8-2-160, et. seq. Mobile 

homes must meet the construction standards specified in ANSI Al19.1. Compliance with ANSI Al19.1 

shall be determined by the following procedures:  

2.55.1 For mobile homes that are proposed to be relocated within Effingham County, the 

county building inspector or designee must inspect the unit to determine if the unit meets the 

Standards of ANSI Al19.1 standards and all other applicable Effingham County ordinances are met, 

after which the county administrator or designee may issue the building permit for placement of the 

mobile home on site. An inspection fee determined from time to time by the board of commissioners 

shall be charged for each individual inspection of a mobile home.  

2.56 Reserved.  

2.57 Motel or motor hotel. A building or group of two or more buildings designed to provide 

sleeping accommodations for transient or overnight guests with no common entrance or lobby. Each 

building shall contain a minimum of ten residential units or rooms which generally have direct, private 

openings to a street, drive, or patio, etc.  

10

Item X. 1.



Page 7 of 19 

 

2.58 Nonconforming lot. Any lot that is smaller than the minimum dimensions, area, or other 

regulations of the district in which the lot is located.  

2.59 Nonconforming use. Use of any property or premises in any manner that does not comply with 

the regulations provided for the district in which the property or premises is situated, if such use was 

originally legally established at the effective date of this ordinance or any amendment thereof.  

2.60 Parking space. That area required for the parking or storage of one automobile, including 

necessary aisle or driveway space providing access thereto.  

2.60A Planned manufactured home community. A tract used or intended for use as a residential area 

occupied by manufactured homes; conforming to an approved development plan with appropriate and 

adequate community services, recreation facilities, utilities, streets, and sidewalks provided by the 

developer; and in which the resident owns or rents the manufactured home and rents the manufactured 

home space. All manufactured homes located within a manufactured home community must be installed 

in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 8-2-160 et. seq.  

2.60B Planned single-family home community. A subdivision used or intended for use as a 

residential area occupied by single-family homes; conforming to an approved development plan 

with appropriate and adequate community services, recreation facilities, utilities, streets, and 

sidewalks provided by the developer; and in which the subdivision is under single ownership or 

control. 

 

2.61 Planning board. The Effingham County Planning Board, which is a body of people appointed 

by the commissioners whose responsibilities include the guidance of growth and development within 

Effingham County.  

2.61A Pond. A manmade depression designed to hold water that is less than one acre in size. These 

include retention, detention, and borrow pits less than one acre.  

2.62 Principal building. The building situated or to be placed nearest the front property line and the 

use of which conforms to the primary use permitted by the zoning classification in which it is located.  

2.63 Professional buildings. Structures used for the conduct of business in any of the following or 

related categories: law; architecture; accounting; engineering; medicine; dentistry; optometry; osteopathy; 

chiropractors; optician; planning, or consulting of the nature of the aforestated categories, not including 

outside storage space for business vehicles or equipment.  

2.64 Public body. Any government or governmental agency in Effingham County, the State of 

Georgia, or the United States Government.  

2.65 Public use. Use of any land, water, or buildings by municipality, public body, or board, 

commission, or any county, state, or the federal government, or any agency thereof for a public service or 

purpose.  

2.66 Repairs. Restoration of portions of a building to its condition as before decay, wear, or damage, 

but not the alteration of the shape or size of any portion.  

2.67 Residential. The term "residential" or "residence" applies herein to any lot, plot, parcel, tract, 

area, piece of land, and/or any building used or intended to be used exclusively for family dwelling 

purposes, including concomitant uses specified herein.  

2.68 Restaurant. A building, room, or rooms where food is prepared and served to a group of 

families, a club, or to the public for consumption within the enclosed structure.  

2.69 Right-of-way line. The outside boundaries of a highway right-of-way, whether such right-of-

way be established by usage, dedication, or by the official right-of-way.  

11

Item X. 1.



Page 8 of 19 

 

2.70 Roominghouse. (The terms roominghouse, boardinghouse, tourist home, cooperative house, 

and lodginghouse are used synonymously in this ordinance.) A building, other than a hotel or dormitory, 

where, for compensation and by arrangement for definite periods, lodging or lodging meals are provided 

for more than three persons unrelated to the owners of the structure.  

2.71 Rooming unit. Any room or group of rooms, forming a habitable unit used for living and 

sleeping, but which does not contain cooking or eating facilities.  

2.72 Setback. The minimum horizontal distance between the right-of-way line, rear, or side lines of 

the lot, and the front, rear, or side lines of the building. When two or more lots under one ownership are 

used, the exterior property line so grouped shall be used in determining offsets.  

2.73 Site. An area designated as a separate and distinct parcel of land on a legally recorded 

subdivision plat or in a legally recorded subdivision plat or in a legally recorded deed.  

2.74 Special exception. A use, specifically designated in this ordinance, that would not be 

appropriate for location generally or without restriction throughout a given zoning district but which, if 

controlled as to number, area, location, or relation to the neighborhood, would, in the opinion of the 

county commissioners, promote the public health, safety, welfare, morals, order, comfort, convenience, 

appearance, prosperity, or general welfare.  

2.75 Story. That portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of 

the floor next above it; or if there be no floor above it, then the space between the floor and ceiling next 

above it.  

2.76 Street. A dedicated and accepted public right-of-way for vehicular traffic which affords the 

principal means of access to abutting properties.  

2.77 Structural alteration. Any change in the shape or size of any portion of a building or structure 

such as walls, columns, beams, arches, girders, floor joists, or roof joists.  

2.78 Surveyor. A person who determines or delineates the form, extent, position, distance, or shape 

of a tract of land by taking linear and angular measurements, and by applying the principles of geometry 

and trigonometry.  

2.79 Structure. Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires rigid location on the 

ground or attachment to something having a permanent location on the ground; provided, however, that 

utility poles, fences, and walls (other than building walls) shall not be considered to be structures.  

2.80 Subdivision. "Subdivision" means all divisions of a tract or parcel of land into two or more lots, 

building sites, or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, legacy, or building 

development, and includes all division of land involving a new street or change in existing streets, and 

includes resubdivision and, where appropriate, the process of subdividing or the land or area subdivided; 

provided, however, that the following exceptions are included within this definition only for the purpose 

of requiring that the planning board be informed and have record of such subdivisions:  

Exceptions:  

(a)  The combination or recombination of portions of previously platted lots where the total number 

of lots is not increased and the resultant lots are equal to the standard of the governing authority;  

(b)  The immediate transfer of property necessitated by death of the property owner to the said 

property owner's legal heirs, provided that the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for 

the zoning district where that property is located and a minimum 60-foot access easement is 

available to serve a cumulative total of not more than three parcels that do not abut a public road;  

(c)  The transfer of property between family members within the third degree of consanguinity, 

provided that the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for the zoning district where that 

12

Item X. 1.



Page 9 of 19 

 

property is located and a minimum 60-foot access easement is available to serve a cumulative 

total of not more than three parcels that do not abut a public road;  

(d)  The division of land into parcels of ten acres or more where no new street is involved.  

Plats of such exceptions shall be received as information by the zoning administrator who shall 

indicate such fact on the plats.  

Conditional exemptions:  

In order to provide property owners with an expeditious method for subdividing a portion of a tract 

of land, conditional exemptions from the provisions of this ordinance are authorized and may be 

granted by the Effingham County Zoning Administrator provided such requests for conditional 

exemptions comply with the following:  

(a)  The division of land into two parcels when the smallest parcel meets the minimum standards for 

the zoning district where that property is located and when divided for residential purposes meets 

health department requirements and where no new street is involved; provided that the same tract 

cannot be divided using this conditional exemption more than one time in any 12-month period 

beginning on the date of recording.  

Plats requesting conditional exemption will be received by the Effingham County Zoning 

Administrator's Office for review. Plats meeting the requirements stated above can be approved by 

the zoning administrator who shall indicate such fact on the plats. If, in the determination of the 

zoning administrator, a plat requesting conditional exemption does not comply with the above 

requirements, or other factors peculiar to the individual circumstance of the property in question, the 

zoning administrator is required to deny the conditional exemption and forward the plat to the 

planning board for processing as a subdivision.  

2.81 Trailer. A non-self-propelled vehicle or conveyance permanently equipped to travel upon the 

public highways that provides temporary use as a residence or living quarters or office; serves as a carrier 

of people, new or used goods, products, or equipment; or is used as a selling, advertising, or display 

device whether or not the wheels have been removed and whether or not set on jacks, skirts, masonry 

blocks, or other foundation.  

2.82 Trash. Cuttings from vegetation, refuse, paper, bottles, and rags.  

2.83 Use. The purpose for which land or a building is arranged, designed, or intended, or for which 

either land or a building is or may be occupied or maintained.  

2.83A Vacant. A structure in which the principle use has been abandoned. This shall not include 

structures for sale or rent or temporarily unoccupied.  

2.83A [B] Utilities, government-owned. Any government-owned water and sewer utilities and 

appurtenances, including publicly-owned treatment plants permitted by the State of Georgia, wells, water 

distribution lines, sewage collection lines, re-use water distribution lines, pump stations, water storage 

facilities, meter stations, and fire hydrant.  

2.84 Variance. A modification of the strict terms of this ordinance granted by the county 

commission where such modification will not be contrary to the public interest; and where, owing to 

conditions peculiar to the property and not as a result of any action on the part of the property owner, a 

literal enforcement of the ordinance would result in unnecessary and undue hardship; and where such 

modification will not authorize a principal or accessory use of the property which is not permitted within 

the zoning district in which the property is located.  

2.85 Vehicle. A conveyance for persons or materials.  

2.86 Waterfront. Any site shall be considered as waterfront property provided any or all of its lot 

lines abut on or are contiguous to any body of water including creek, canal, river, or any other body of 

13

Item X. 1.



Page 10 of 19 

 

water natural or artificial, including marshland, not including a swimming pool, whether said lot line is 

front, rear, or side.  

2.87 Yard. An open space on the same lot with a building; said space lies between the building and 

nearest lot or street line.  

2.88 Yard, front. That area of open space to the front of the platted lot, the area immediately 

adjacent to the street side of the lot. If streets are bound on two sides of the lot, the narrower portion 

fronting on a street shall be declared the front. See Lot lines, front.  

2.89 Yard, rear. That area of open space that is opposite the area delineated as the front. That area of 

greatest distance from the street. See Lot lines, rear.  

2.90 Yard, side. That area of open space that is immediately adjacent to the side lot lines. See Lot 

lines, side.  

2.91 Zoning administrator. That person hired by the county commissioners to enforce the zoning 

ordinance, subdivision regulations, and any other land use ordinances adopted by the county 

commissioners.  

2.92 Zoning ordinance or ordinance. The Zoning Ordinance of Effingham County, Georgia.  

2.93 Zoning map. The Official Map of Effingham County.  

 

ARTICLE V. – USES PERMITTED IN DISTRICTS 

5.6 - R-3 Multifamily residential districts.  

This zoning district will only be allowed if municipal or county water and sewer service is adjacent 

to the parcel and capacity is available, or a state permitted, privately owned community water and sewer 

system is constructed or available, and can provide assurance of capacity.  

5.6.1 Permitted uses.  

5.6.1.1 All permitted uses in the R-1 single-family residential district and R-2 two-family residential 

district.  

5.6.1.2 Multiple-family dwellings, Garden apartment communities or buildings, roominghouses, 

fraternities, sororities, and dormitories.  

5.6.1.3 Government-owned utilities, except publicly-owned treatment plants permitted by the State 

of Georgia and water storage facilities in excess of 1,000,000 gallon capacity, provided that 

wells, pump stations, meter stations, and water storage facilities shall be enclosed by a painted 

or chain-link fence or wall at least six feet in height above finished grade and provided there is 

neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on the premises.  

5.6.1.3 Customary accessory buildings incidental to the above permitted uses.  

5.6.1.4 Townhouses, subject to the following requirements: 

a. A row of townhouses shall not contain more than six (6) dwelling units. 

b. Maximum lot coverage required in this section forty percent (40%) shall be applied per lot 

on which each individual townhouse sits.  

c. In order to provide visual diversity, no more than four (4) contiguous townhouse units shall 

be allowed with the same setback and the same façade treatment. Variations in setback shall 

be at least three feet.  

14

Item X. 1.



Page 11 of 19 

 

d. Townhouses shall have a front, side, or rear privacy yard having a minimum area of one 

hundred (100) square feet on each lot. 

e. Streets shall have sidewalks with a minimum four (4) foot width on any side of any street 

that contains townhouses. A tree no less than two (2) inches dbh shall be planted at a rate of 

at least one (1) for every fifty (50) feet between the sidewalk and the street.  

f. If permissible pursuant to Access Management and Encroachment Regulations for 

Effingham County Roads, these standards apply: 

a. For developments with sixty (60) or fewer dwelling units, at least one (1) point of 

access to the roadway network shall be provided.  

b. For developments with sixty-one (61) or more dwelling units, at least two (2) point 

of access to the roadway network shall be provided.   

5.6.2 Conditional uses. The following uses may be permitted in accordance with the provisions of section 

7.1.6 in the multifamily residential (R-3) district on a conditional basis upon approval of the county 

commission after review by the planning board.  

5.6.2.1 Clubs and private recreational facilities.  

5.6.2.2 Nursing homes.  

5.6.2.3 Day care facilities.  

5.6.3 Lot and building requirements.  

 

Density (applicable to townhouses and multifamily)  
Maximum 9 per 

acre  

Minimum lot width at building line  150 feet  

Minimum setback from public street  15 feet  

Minimum length of driveway  20 feet  

Minimum rear yard  15 feet  

Minimum side yard (interior) for townhouse buildings or single apartment building 

on a lot 
15 feet  

Minimum side yard (street) for townhouse buildings or single apartment building 

on a lot 
35 feet  

Maximum building height  35 feet  

Maximum percent of [lot coverage]  40 percent  

  

15

Item X. 1.



Page 12 of 19 

 

5.6.4 Amenity requirements.  

5.6.4.1 All multi-family and townhouse residential projects shall provide one hundred and fifty 

(150) square feet of on-site common outdoor open space per multi-family dwelling unit or fifteen 

percent (15%) of net usable area as common outdoor open space, whichever is greater. Open 

space calculations shall be shown on the Sketch Plan and subdivision plat.  Common outdoor 

open space shall be intentionally designed as such and may include landscaped courtyards, shared 

decks, gardens with pathways, children’s play areas, pools, water features, multipurpose 

recreational or green spaces to which all residents have access, as defined by Article II, 

Definitions. The following requirements apply to common outdoor open space:  

a. The required setback areas may count toward the open space requirement if it is integrated into 

a common open space amenity.   

b. Common outdoor open space shall feature paths or walkable areas, landscaping, seating, 

lighting and other amenities to make the area more functional and enjoyable for a range of users, 

taking into consideration potential noise issues due to the configuration of the site.  

c. Common outdoor open space shall generally be designed so it is oriented at the front of 

dwelling units and/or community building(s). 

d. Ten percent (10%) of net usable area allocated as common open space shall be greenspace. The 

implementation of a conservation easement is encouraged.  

5.6.4.2 A maintenance association, homeowners association, condominium association or some 

other entity shall be created to maintain all amenities and common areas in good condition.  

 

5.8 - R-6 Single-family residential district (four and a half (4.5) dwellings per acre).  

 

This zoning district is no longer available. All single family residential development shall be subject 

to R-1 and R-5 zoning district requirements. 

 

[5.8.1] Where applicable.  

This zoning district will only be allowed if municipal or county water and sewer service is adjacent 

to the parcel and capacity is available or a state permitted, privately owned community water and sewer 

system is constructed or available.  

[5.8.2] Required utilities.  

All properties in the R-6 zoning district shall be connected to water and sewer systems. No 

individual septic systems shall be permitted.  

[5.8.3] Maximum density.  

Four and a half (4.5) dwelling units per acre.  

[5.8.4] Permitted uses.  

16

Item X. 1.



Page 13 of 19 

 

Site-built and Class A single-family detached dwellings.  

Unlighted regulation size, or par three golf courses, consisting of nine holes or more, including 

normal clubhouses and pro shop activities, and other business activity associated with country clubs.  

Home occupations and residential business, as provided in Article III, sections 3.15 and 3.15A.  

Government owned utilities, except publicly owned treatment plants permitted by the State of 

Georgia and water storage facilities in excess of 1,000,000 gallon capacity, provided that wells, 

pump stations, meter stations, and water storage facilities must be enclosed by a painted or chain link 

fence or wall at least six feet in height above the finished grade and provided there is neither office 

nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on the premises.  

Parks, recreational areas, playgrounds, public or private swimming pools.  

Libraries or museums.  

[5.8.5] Conditional uses.  

The following uses may be permitted in accordance with the provisions of section 7.1.6 in the single-

family residential (R-6) district on a conditional basis upon approval by the county commission after 

review by the planning board.  

Churches, synagogues, mosques, temples, or other places of worship provided that:  

Such use is housed in a permanent structure;  

No structure on the lot is closer than 25 feet to any abutting residential property line.  

Public and private school engaged in teaching general curriculum for educational advancement, 

provided the structure are placed not less than 50 feet from any residential property line. Such 

schools shall be day schools only and have no rooms regularly used for housing or sleeping 

purposes.  

Public utilities substation or subinstallation including water towers provided that:  

1.  Such use is enclosed by a painted or chain link fence or wall at least six feet in height above 

finished grade;  

2.  There is neither office nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on the 

premises;  

3.  A landscaped strip not less than five feet in width is planted and suitably maintained around the 

facility.  

Day care facilities.  

Nursing homes  

[5.8.6] Lot and building requirements.  

Lot size:  

 Area  8,500 sq. ft. (0.19 acres)  

 Width  Minimum 60 feet  

17

Item X. 1.



Page 14 of 19 

 

Principle buildings:  

 Maximum height  35 feet  

 Minimum front setback  15 feet  

  Stairs (but not porches) may encroach up to five feet into front yard setback  

 Maximum front setback  
The average of the house on either side or 20 feet, whichever is 

less.  

 Minimum side setback (interior)  
7.5 feet (or 3 feet provided minimum building separation of 15 

feet is maintained)  

 Minimum side setback (street)  15 feet  

 Minimum rear setback  25 feet  

 Maximum lot coverage  45%  

Accessory buildings:  

 Maximum height  
20 feet and not to exceed the height of the principle  

building  

 Minimum rear and side setback  5 feet  

 Lot coverage  15%  

  

**All building setbacks shall be show on final plat**  

[5.8.7] Open space requirements.  

All developments in the R-6 zoning district must provide 15% of net usable area as common 

outdoor open space. Open space calculations must be on the subdivision plat. Common outdoor 

open space shall mean areas accessible to all residents of the development. Common outdoor 

open space can include passive or active recreation areas, pathways, swimming pools, and open 

areas for congregating, per Article II definition. 10% of common open space shall be greenspace. 

The implementation of a conservation easement is strongly encouraged. 

A homeowners association or some other entity acceptable to the administrator must be created to 

maintain the amenities and open space in good condition.  

[5.8.8] Sidewalk requirement.  

18

Item X. 1.



Page 15 of 19 

 

Streets in the R-6 zoning district shall have sidewalks on any side of any street that contains houses. 

A tree no less than two inches dbh must be planted at a rate of one for every two houses between the 

sidewalk and the street. 

[5.8.9] Parking requirements.  

Two off street parking spaces shall be provided for each single-family dwelling.  

These spaces can be in a garage, carport, or driveway accessed from the front or rear of the parcel.  

 

A new zoning district Section 5.17 R-5 Single Family Traditional Neighborhood Design residential 

district is inserted, as follows: 

5.17 - R-5 Single-family Traditional Neighborhood Design residential district  

5.17.1 Where applicable.  

This zoning district will only be allowed if municipal or county water and sewer service is adjacent 

to the parcel and capacity is available or a state permitted, privately owned community water and sewer 

system is constructed or available, and can provide assurance of capacity.   

5.17.2 Required utilities.  

All properties in the R-5 zoning district shall be connected to water and sewer systems. No 

individual septic systems shall be permitted.  

5.17.3 Maximum density.  

Minimum 0.15-acre lot, with no more than five (5) dwelling units per net usable acre.  

5.17.4 Permitted uses.  

5.17.4.1 Site-built and Class A single-family detached dwellings.  

5.17.4.2 Home occupations, as provided in Article III, section 3.15.  

5.17.4.3 Customary accessory buildings incidental to the above permitted uses.  

5.17.4.4 Government owned utilities, except publicly owned treatment plants permitted by the State 

of Georgia and water storage facilities in excess of 1,000,000 gallon capacity, provided that wells, 

pump stations, meter stations, and water storage facilities shall be enclosed by a painted or chain link 

fence or wall at least six feet in height above the finished grade and provided there is neither office 

nor commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment on the premises.  

5.17.4.5 Parks, recreational areas, playgrounds, public or private swimming pools.  

5.17.4.6 Planned single-family home communities with the following requirements:  

a) A homeowners’ association shall be established, or management company identified. Said 

association or company shall operate pursuant to subdivision covenants, which are submitted 

to county with the final plat.  It is the intent that said association or company will provide 

oversight of the development standards and maintenance of common areas and amenities. 

1. Covenants shall include a provision that no more than twenty percent (20%) of 

homes in the community may be rented until at least twelve (12) months has elapsed 

since issuance of the certificate of occupancy.  

19

Item X. 1.



Page 16 of 19 

 

b) The management company overseeing rentals shall pay an occupation tax and register with 

the County annually, pursuant to Article II – Business and Occupation Tax, for a license to 

operate a planned single-family home community. 

c) Walls in excess of twenty feet (20) in length facing a street shall be broken up with entry 

elements, windows or wall offsets at least two (2) feet deep. 

d) A minimum of two (2) decorative elements shall be added to the front façade including but 

not limited to decorative shutters, decorative lighting, trellises, cornices, or similar 

architectural elements.  

e) Maximum lot coverage of forty-five percent (45%) shall be applied per lot on which each 

individual single-family residence sits. 

5.17.5 Reserved.  

  

5.17.6 Lot and building requirements.  

Lot size:  

 Area  6,600 sq. ft. (0.15 acres)  

 Width  Minimum 50 feet  

Principle buildings:  

 Maximum height  35 feet  

 Minimum front setback  15 feet  

  Stairs (but not porches) may encroach up to five feet into front yard setback  

 Minimum side setback 

(interior)  

7.5 feet (or 3 feet provided minimum building separation of 15 feet is 

maintained)  

 Minimum side setback 

(street)  
15 feet  

 Minimum rear setback  25 feet  

 Maximum lot coverage  45%  

**All building setbacks shall be shown on final subdivision plat**  

5.17.7 Open space requirements.  

All developments in the R-5 zoning district shall provide fifteen percent (15%) of net usable area 

as common outdoor open space. Open space calculations shall be shown on the Sketch Plan and 

20

Item X. 1.



Page 17 of 19 

 

subdivision plat. Common outdoor open space shall mean areas accessible to all residents of the 

development. Common outdoor open space can include passive or active recreation areas, 

pathways, swimming pools, and open areas for congregating, per Article II, Definitions.  

a) Common outdoor open space shall feature paths or walkable areas, landscaping, seating, 

lighting and other amenities to make the area more functional and enjoyable for a range of 

users, taking into consideration potential noise issues due to the configuration of the site. 

b) Ten percent (10%) of net usable area allocated as common open space shall be greenspace. 

The implementation of a conservation easement is strongly encouraged. 

c) A homeowners association or some other entity shall be created to maintain the amenities and 

open space in good condition.  

5.17.8 Subdivision Design Requirements. 

5.17.8.1 Roads and Rights-of-Way 

a) Roads in R-5 developments shall have a minimum of sixty (60) foot right-of-way, with a 

minimum paved area as follows: 

1. Twenty-two (22) foot road pavement width is only permitted if homes have rear alley 

access. Signage is required indicating that on-street parking is prohibited. 

2. Twenty-eight (28) foot road pavement width, with parking on one side, is permitted if 

parking side is clearly delineated. Signage indicating parking side is required. 

3. Thirty-six (36) foot road pavement width, with parking permitted on both sides. 

b) R-5 developments shall have curb and gutter throughout. 

c) Streets in the R-5 developments shall have four (4) foot wide sidewalks on any side of any 

street that contains houses. A tree no less than two (2) inches dbh shall be planted at a rate of 

one (1) for every two (2) houses in the two (2) foot section of grass between the sidewalk and 

the curb. 

d) If lots are platted parallel to arterial, collector, or local (if outside of existing platted 

subdivision) road right-of-way, the following is required: 

1. Provide minimum twenty (20) foot landscaped strip and a residential street, with 

residential lot facing arterial, collector, or local road right-of-way. 

2. Provide minimum thirty (30) foot vegetative buffer and residential lot may have rear 

yard facing arterial, collector, or local road right-of-way. 

5.17.8.2 Parking requirements.  

Two (2) off street parking spaces shall be provided for each single-family dwelling. These spaces 

can be in a garage, carport, or driveway accessed from the front or rear of the parcel.  One (1) additional 

space per every five (5) units shall be provided for overflow off-street parking.  

5.17.9 Development Standards. 

The follow design elements shall be included:  

a) Exterior finished material shall be constructed with a combination of clay masonry brick, 

natural stone including granite, marble, sandstone, field stone or other similar natural stone; 

manufactured stone including imitation field stone, marble terrazzo, and other similar 

21

Item X. 1.



Page 18 of 19 

 

manufactured finish stone; and wood, cement plank, fiber plank, traditional three coat stucco, 

or other materials of like appearance.  

b) Buildings shall utilize design features from the following list, totaling at least four (4) points, 

to provide visual relief along the front of the dwelling unit. Unless otherwise specified, 

features are worth one (1) point:  

1. Dormers (functional or false)  

2. Gables    

3. Recessed entries   

4. Covered front porches, at least six (6) feet in depth (2 points)   

5. Pillars or posts    

6. Two or more brick masonry pattern bond treatments    

7. Side or rear loaded garage or carport (3 points)   

8. Bay windows (minimum twenty-four (24) inch projection)   

9. Multi-season porch or sunroom on rear of house (3 points) 

c) The garage shall not occupy more than forty percent (40%) of the total building façade.  

d) At least twenty percent (20%) of the wall space of the front façade shall be windows and 

doors. Windows shall be provided with trim.  

e) The minimum roof overhang shall be twelve (12) inches, exclusive of porches and patios.   

f) The minimum landscaping shall be as follows   

1. (2) Large Trees (one in the front yard, one in the rear yard)  

Mature size = 40’-60’  

Planted size = 2” cal.  

2. (2) Small Trees (one in the front yard, one in the rear yard)  

Mature size = 15’-40’   

Planted size = 2”cal.  

3. (4) Large Shrubs (near foundation; 25% in rear yard)  

Mature size = 5’-8’  

Planted size = 30”   

22

Item X. 1.



Page 19 of 19 

 

4. (8) Small Shrubs (near foundation; 25% in rear yard)  

Mature size = 2’-4’  

Planted size = 20”   

5.17.10 R-5 Rezoning Application Requirements. 

Applicant shall submit the following documentation in addition to the Rezoning Application:  

a) A completed R-5 Development Standards Submittal Form and Checklist. 

b) A subdivision concept plan showing the lots, road configuration, and all calculations (open 

space, etc.).  

c) A timeline delineating when the development will begin and estimated time of completion. 

d) Exhibits and descriptions of materials that clearly demonstrate the intent of the developer to 

meet the requirements of Sec. 5.8.10 Development Standards.   

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

This         day of                           , 20__. 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

BY: ______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

ATTEST:  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY CLERK 

                                                       

FIRST READING _________________           

                                                  

SECOND READING _________________ 

 

23

Item X. 1.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 15, 2022 
Item Description: The McGraley Co. requests to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow 
for a surface mine. Located on McCall Road Map# 391 Parcels# 11C & 11F Map# 412 Parcel# 24 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, excavation activity that involves movement of soil off-site must be located 
within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is surrounded by agricultural and residential uses, which are supported by the future 
land use map. According to EPD, there are approximately 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed site has extensive wetlands coverage. Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts 
must be permitted by the USACE.  

• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on both McCall Road & Racepath Road. Neither road is a 
designated truck route.  

• The applicant has submitted an application for Map/Parcel 391-11C for a pond less than one acre in size. 
The submitted site plan shows the pond inside the proposed surface mine area. 

• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to 
rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
1. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
2. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
3. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

4. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

• And the added condition: 
5. There shall be no traffic entrance to, exit from, or travel along Racepath Road. Surface mine traffic 

and access shall be limited to McCall Road. 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 
• At the November 1, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Reggie Loper made a motion 

to table the request to rezone to the November 15, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, in order to 
allow Staff time to evaluate active surface mines and their impact, and to recommend conditions to 
address concerns raised by constituents.  

• The motion was seconded by Commissioner Forrest Floyd and carried unanimously. 
• Staff has added conditions 8-10 to Alternative 1 in response to the tabling. 

24

Item X. 2.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with 

the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. There shall be no traffic entrance to, exit from, or travel along Racepath Road. Surface mine traffic 
and access shall be limited to McCall Road. 

8. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 
Monday through Friday. 

9. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 
10. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services 

after 10 years, I-1 zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   

2. Deny the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

  

25

Item X. 2.



26

Item X. 2.



27

Item X. 2.



28

Item X. 2.



29

Item X. 2.



30

Item X. 2.



31

Item X. 2.



32

Item X. 2.



33

Item X. 2.



34

Item X. 2.



35

Item X. 2.



36

Item X. 2.



37

Item X. 2.



38

Item X. 2.



39

Item X. 2.



40

Item X. 2.



41

Item X. 2.



42

Item X. 2.



43

Item X. 2.



44

Item X. 2.



45

Item X. 2.



46

Item X. 2.



47

Item X. 2.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 15, 2022 
Item Description: The McGraley Co. requests to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow 
for a surface mine. Located on McCall Road Map# 391 Parcels# 11C & 11F Map# 412 Parcel# 24 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, excavation activity that involves movement of soil off-site must be located 
within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is surrounded by agricultural and residential uses, which are supported by the future 
land use map. According to EPD, there are approximately 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed site has extensive wetlands coverage. Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts 
must be permitted by the USACE.  

• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on both McCall Road & Racepath Road. Neither road is a 
designated truck route.  

• The applicant has submitted an application for Map/Parcel 391-11C for a pond less than one acre in size. 
The submitted site plan shows the pond inside the proposed surface mine area. 

• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to 
rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
1. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
2. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
3. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

4. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

• And the added condition: 
5. There shall be no traffic entrance to, exit from, or travel along Racepath Road. Surface mine traffic 

and access shall be limited to McCall Road. 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 
• At the November 1, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Reggie Loper made a motion 

to table the request to rezone to the November 15, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, in order to 
allow Staff time to evaluate active surface mines and their impact, and to recommend conditions to 
address concerns raised by constituents.  

• The motion was seconded by Commissioner Forrest Floyd and carried unanimously. 
• Staff has added conditions 8-10 to Alternative 1 in response to the tabling. 

48

Item X. 3.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with 

the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. There shall be no traffic entrance to, exit from, or travel along Racepath Road. Surface mine traffic 
and access shall be limited to McCall Road. 

8. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 
Monday through Friday. 

9. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 
10. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services 

after 10 years, I-1 zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   

2. Deny the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  
  

49

Item X. 3.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

391-11C, 11F & 412-24  

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

391-11C, 11F & 412-24 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS THE MCGRALEY CO. has filed an application to rezone sixty-five and twenty-nine hundredth (65.29) +/- 

acres; from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for surface mine; map and parcel number 391-11C, 11F & 412-24, located in the 4th commissioner 

district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on November 15, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on October 5, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on September 28, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT sixty-five and twenty-nine hundredth (65.29) +/- acres; map and parcel number 391-

11C, 11F & 412-24, located in the 4th commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1, with the following conditions: 

1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 

2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 

3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 

4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 

5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state 

federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and 

Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine and close-out of this 

mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural Resources that the affected lands have been 

reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. There shall be no traffic entrance to, exit from, or travel along Racepath Road. Surface mine traffic and access shall be limited 

to McCall Road. 

8. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday. 

9. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 

10. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services after 10 years, I-1 

zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

50

Item X. 3.



      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

51

Item X. 3.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 15, 2022 
Item Description: The McGraley Co. as Agent for Richard Hall requests to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine. Located on Horse Pen Road Map# 394 Parcels# 29 & 30 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from 
AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, 
excavation activity that requires a state mining permit must be located within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is surrounded by agricultural and residential uses, which are supported by the future 
land use map. According to EPD, there are 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed site has extensive wetlands coverage. Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts 
must be permitted by the USACE.  

• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on Horse Pen Road, which is not a designated truck route.  
• The applicant has submitted an application for Map/Parcel 394-30 for a pond less than one acre in size. 

The submitted site plan shows the proposed pond inside the area to be mined. 
• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to 

rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 
• At the November 1, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Roger Burdette made a motion 

to table the request to rezone to the November 15, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, in order to 
allow Staff time to evaluate active surface mines and their impact, and to recommend conditions to 
address concerns raised by constituents. 

• The motion was seconded by Commissioner Forrest Floyd and carried unanimously. 
• Staff has added conditions 7-9 to Alternative 1 in response to the tabling. 

 
 

52

Item X. 4.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from AR-1 to I-1 for a surface mine, with the following 

conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 
p.m. Monday through Friday. 

8. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 
9. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services 

after 10 years, I-1 zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   
 

 
2. Deny the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 

Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

3. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

 

53

Item X. 4.



54

Item X. 4.



55

Item X. 4.



56

Item X. 4.



57

Item X. 4.



58

Item X. 4.



59

Item X. 4.



60

Item X. 4.



61

Item X. 4.



62

Item X. 4.



63

Item X. 4.



64

Item X. 4.



65

Item X. 4.



66

Item X. 4.



67

Item X. 4.



68

Item X. 4.



69

Item X. 4.



70

Item X. 4.



71

Item X. 4.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 15, 2022 
Item Description: The McGraley Co. as Agent for Richard Hall requests to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine. Located on Horse Pen Road Map# 394 Parcels# 29 & 30 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from 
AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, 
excavation activity that requires a state mining permit must be located within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is surrounded by agricultural and residential uses, which are supported by the future 
land use map. According to EPD, there are 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed site has extensive wetlands coverage. Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts 
must be permitted by the USACE.  

• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on Horse Pen Road, which is not a designated truck route.  
• The applicant has submitted an application for Map/Parcel 394-30 for a pond less than one acre in size. 

The submitted site plan shows the proposed pond inside the area to be mined. 
• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to 

rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 
• At the November 1, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Roger Burdette made a motion 

to table the request to rezone to the November 15, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, in order to 
allow Staff time to evaluate active surface mines and their impact, and to recommend conditions to 
address concerns raised by constituents. 

• The motion was seconded by Commissioner Forrest Floyd and carried unanimously. 
• Staff has added conditions 7-9 to Alternative 1 in response to the tabling. 

 
 

72

Item X. 5.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from AR-1 to I-1 for a surface mine, with the following 

conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 
p.m. Monday through Friday. 

8. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 
9. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services 

after 10 years, I-1 zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   
 

 
2. Deny the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 

Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  
 

73

Item X. 5.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

394-29 & 30 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

394-29 & 30 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS THE MCGRALEY CO. AS AGENT FOR RICHARD HALL has filed an application to rezone twenty-seven 

and seventeen hundredth (27.17) +/- acres; from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for surface mine; map and parcel number 394-29 & 30, located 

in the 4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on November 15, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on October 5, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on September 28, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT twenty-seven and seventeen hundredth (27.17) +/- acres; map and parcel number 394-

29 & 30, located in the 4th commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1, with the following conditions: 

1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 

2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 

3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 

4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 

5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state 

federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and 

Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine and close-out of this 

mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural Resources that the affected lands have been 

reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday. 

8. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 

9. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services after 10 years, I-1 

zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

74

Item X. 5.



 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

75

Item X. 5.



Staff Report 

 
Subject: Allan Husband Disabled Veteran HS 

Author: Neal Groover 

Department: Tax Assessor  

Meeting Date: November 15, 2022 

Item Description: Request for Tax refund 

 

Summary Recommendation: 

Tax Assessor office recommends denial of refund. 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Tax Assessor office did not transfer property in Mr. Husband’s name for 2020 or 

2021. Mr. Husband never notified us of this even though received notices for 

2020 & 2021 and tax bills for 2020 & 2021 in someone else’s name. 

 Mr. Husband did not receive eligibility for 100% Disability Veterans status until an 

effective date of February 1, 2022 which is after the January 1 2022. 

 Mr. Husband never applied for a Homestead exemption & never filed an appeal 

with our office therefore our office is unable to facilitate any action unless it 

comes from the County Commissioners 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Do not approve refund taxes for 2022, 2021 

2. Approve refund for 2022 & 2021 at Disable Veterans amount 

 

Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative 1 

 

Other Alternatives: 2 

 

Department Review: Tax Assessor, County Commissioners 

 

 

Attachments: PRC, and Veterans letter and Deeds. GA HS law concerning  

 

76

Item XI. 1.



77

Item XI. 1.



78

Item XI. 1.



79

Item XI. 1.



80

Item XI. 1.



81

Item XI. 1.



82

Item XI. 1.



83

Item XI. 1.



84

Item XI. 1.



85

Item XI. 1.



86

Item XI. 1.



87

Item XI. 1.



88

Item XI. 1.



89

Item XI. 1.



48-5-48. Homestead exemption by qualified 
disabled veteran; filing requirements; periodic 

substantiation of eligibility; persons eligible without 
application; retroactive award. 
(a) As used in this Code section, the term “disabled veteran” means: 

(1) Any veteran who is a citizen and a resident of this state, who was discharged under honorable 

conditions, and who has been adjudicated by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs as 
having a service related disability that renders such veteran as being 100 percent totally disabled or 
as being less than 100 percent totally disabled but is compensated at the 100 percent level due to 
individual unemployability or is entitled to receive a statutory award from the United States 

Department of Veterans Affairs for: 
(A) Loss or permanent loss of use of one or both feet; 
(B) Loss or permanent loss of use of one or both hands; 

(C) Loss of sight in one or both eyes; or 

(D) Permanent impairment of vision of both eyes of the following status: central visual acuity of 

20/200 or less in the better eye, with corrective glasses, or central visual acuity of more than 20/200 
if there is a field defect in which the peripheral field has contracted to such an extent that the widest 

diameter of visual field subtends on angular distance no greater than 20 degrees in the better eye; 
(2) An American veteran of any war or armed conflict in which any branch of the armed forces of the 

United States engaged, whether under United States command or otherwise, and that he or she is 
disabled due to the loss or loss of use of both lower extremities such as to preclude locomotion 

without the aid of braces, crutches, canes, or a wheelchair; due to blindness in both eyes, having only 
light perception, together with the loss or loss of use of one lower extremity; or due to the loss or loss 
of use of one lower extremity together with residuals of organic disease or injury which so affect the 
functions of balance or propulsion as to preclude locomotion without resort to a wheelchair; 
(3) Any disabled veteran who is not entitled to receive benefits from the Department of Veterans 

Affairs but who qualifies otherwise, as provided for by Article VII, Section I, Paragraph IV of the 
Constitution of Georgia of 1976; 
(4) An American veteran of any war or armed conflict who is disabled due to loss or loss of use of one 

lower extremity together with the loss or loss of use of one upper extremity which so affects the 
functions of balance or propulsion as to preclude locomotion without the aid of braces, crutches, 
canes, or a wheelchair; or 
(5) A veteran becoming eligible for assistance in acquiring housing under Section 2101 of Title 38 of 

the United States Code as hereafter amended on or after July 1, 1999. 
(b) Any disabled veteran as defined in any paragraph of subsection (a) of this Code section who is a 

citizen and resident of Georgia is granted an exemption of the greater of $32,500.00 or the maximum 
amount which may be granted to a disabled veteran under Section 2102 of Title 38 of the United 
States Code, as amended, on his or her homestead which such veteran owns and actually occupies as 
a residence and homestead, such exemption being from all ad valorem taxation for state, county, 
municipal, and school purposes. As of January 1, 2004, the maximum amount which may be granted 
to a disabled veteran under the above-stated federal law is $50,000.00. The value of all property in 
excess of the exempted amount cited above shall remain subject to taxation. The unremarried 

surviving spouse or minor children of any such disabled veteran as defined in this Code section shall 
also be entitled to an exemption of the greater of $32,500.00 or the maximum amount which may be 
granted to a disabled veteran under Section 2102 of Title 38 of the United States Code, as amended, 
on the homestead so long as the unremarried surviving spouse or minor children continue actually to 
occupy the home as a residence and homestead, such exemption being from all ad valorem taxation 
for state, county, municipal, and school purposes. As of January 1, 2004, the maximum amount which 

may be granted to the unremarried surviving spouse or minor children of any such disabled veteran 
under the above-stated federal law is $50,000.00. The value of all property in excess of such 
exemption granted to such unremarried surviving spouse or minor children shall remain subject to 
taxation. 
(b.1) The unremarried surviving spouse or minor children of any disabled veteran shall also be entitled 

to an exemption of the greater of $32,500.00 or the maximum amount on a homestead, or any 

90

Item XI. 1.



subsequent homestead within the same county, where such spouse or minor children continue to 
occupy the home as a homestead, such exemption being from ad valorem taxation for state, county, 
municipal, and school purposes. 
(c) 
(1) Any disabled veteran qualifying pursuant to paragraph (1) or (2) of subsection (a) of this Code 

section for the homestead exemption provided for in this Code section shall file with the tax 
commissioner or tax receiver a letter from the Department of Veterans Affairs or the Department of 

Veterans Service stating the qualifying disability. 
(2) Any disabled veteran qualifying pursuant to paragraph (3) of subsection (a) of this Code section for 

the homestead exemption provided for in this Code section shall file with the tax commissioner or tax 

receiver a copy of his DD form 214 (discharge papers from his military records) along with a letter 
from a doctor who is licensed to practice medicine in this state stating that he is disabled due to loss 
or loss of use of both lower extremities such as to preclude locomotion without the aid of braces, 
crutches, canes, or a wheelchair; due to blindness in both eyes, having only light perception, together 
with the loss or loss of use of one lower extremity; or due to the loss or loss of use of one lower 
extremity together with residuals of organic disease or injury which so affect the functions of balance 

or propulsion as to preclude locomotion without resort to a wheelchair. Prior to approval of an 

exemption, a county board of tax assessors may require the applicant to provide not more than two 
additional doctors’ letters if the board is in doubt as to the applicant’s eligibility for the exemption. 
(3) Any disabled veteran qualifying pursuant to paragraph (4) of subsection (a) of this Code section for 

the homestead exemption provided for in this Code section shall file with the tax commissioner or tax 
receiver a letter from a doctor who is licensed to practice medicine in this state stating the qualifying 
disability. Prior to approval of an exemption, a county board of tax assessors may require the 
applicant to provide not more than two additional doctors’ letters if the board is in doubt as to the 
applicant’s eligibility for the exemption. 
(4) Any disabled veteran qualifying pursuant to paragraph (5) of subsection (a) of this Code section for 

the homestead exemption provided for in this Code section shall file with the tax commissioner or tax 
receiver a letter from the Department of Veterans Affairs or the Department of Veterans Service 
stating the eligibility for such housing assistance. 
(d) Each disabled veteran shall file for the exemption only once in the county of his residence. Once 

filed, the exemption shall automatically be renewed from year to year, except as provided in 

subsection (e) of this Code section. Such exemption shall be extended to the unremarried surviving 
spouse or minor children at the time of his death so long as they continue to occupy the home as a 
residence and homestead. In the event a disabled veteran who would otherwise be entitled to the 

exemption dies or becomes incapacitated to the extent that he or she cannot personally file for such 
exemption, the spouse, the unremarried surviving spouse, or the minor children at the time of the 
disabled veteran’s death may file for the exemption and such exemption may be granted as if the 
disabled veteran had made personal application therefor. 
(e) Not more often than once every three years, the county board of tax assessors may require the 

holder of an exemption granted pursuant to this Code section to substantiate his continuing eligibility 
for the exemption. In no event may the board require more than three doctors’ letters to substantiate 
eligibility. 
(f) Any person who as of January 1, 1991, has applied and is eligible for the exemption for disabled 

veterans, their surviving spouses, and minor children formerly provided for by the sixth unnumbered 
subparagraph of Article VII, Section I, Paragraph IV of the Constitution of 1976; the exemption for 
disabled veterans provided for in Article VII, Section II, Paragraph V of the Constitution of 1983; or 

the exemption for disabled veterans formerly provided for by Code Section 48-5-48.3 as enacted by 
an Act approved April 11, 1986 (Ga. L. 1986, p. 1445), shall be eligible for the exemption granted by 

subsection (b) of this Code section without applying for such exemption. 
(g) 
(1) If a disabled veteran receives a final determination of disability from the United States Department 

of Veterans Affairs containing a retroactive period of eligibility, such disabled veteran or his or her 
surviving unremarried spouse or minor children shall be entitled to a refund of the ad valorem taxes 
paid during such period that he or she or his or her surviving unremarried spouse or minor children 
would have otherwise been exempt from such taxes pursuant to this Code section, provided that the 
refund shall only be for the three tax years preceding his or her or his or her surviving unremarried 
spouse’s or minor children’s application for the homestead exemption permitted by this Code section. 
(2) Upon application for the homestead exemption provided by this Code section and submittal of 

proper documentation, each county and municipality shall consider the taxes paid by such disabled 

91

Item XI. 1.



veteran or his or her surviving unremarried spouse or minor children under the circumstances 
provided in paragraph (1) of this subsection to be voluntarily or involuntarily overpaid and shall refund 
such taxes to such disabled veteran or his or her surviving unremarried spouse or minor children in 
accordance with Code Section 48-5-380. 
(3) Upon final determination and approval of a period of prior eligibility, the county board of assessors 

shall immediately transmit such approval to the local tax commissioner and local municipal tax officer 
if applicable. The tax commissioner and municipal tax officer shall be authorized to refund the 

proportionate amount of taxes from the entities for whom the taxes were collected for the tax years 
approved for the exemption. Such refund shall not exceed three tax years and shall not include 
interest. 

 

92

Item XI. 1.



48-5-40. Definitions. 
As used in this part, the term: 

(1) “Applicant” means a person who is: 
(A) 
(i) A married individual living with his or her spouse; 
(ii) An individual who is unmarried but who permanently maintains a home for the benefit of one or 

more other individuals who are related to such individual or dependent wholly or partially upon such 
individual for support; 
(iii) An individual who is widowed having one or more children and maintaining a home occupied by 

himself or herself and the child or children; 
(iv) A divorced individual living in a bona fide state of separation and having legal custody of one or 

more children, when the divorced individual owns and maintains a home for the child or children; or 
(v) An individual who is unmarried or is widowed and who permanently maintains a home owned and 

occupied by himself or herself; and 
(B) A resident of this state as defined in paragraph (15) of Code Section 40-5-1, as amended. 
(2) “Home for the aged” means a facility which provides residential services, health care services, or 

both residential services and health care services to the aged. 
(3) “Homestead” means the real property owned by and in possession of the applicant on January 1 of 

the taxable year and upon which the applicant resides including, but not limited to, the land 
immediately surrounding the residence to which the applicant has a right of possession under a bona 
fide claim of ownership. The term “homestead” includes the following qualifications: 
(A) The actual permanent place of residence of an individual who is the applicant and which constitutes 

the home of the family; 
(B) Where the person who is the applicant holds the bona fide fee title (although subject to mortgage 

or debt deed), an estate for life, or under any bona fide contract of purchase providing for the 
conveyance of title to the applicant upon performance of the contract; 
(C) Where the building is occupied primarily as a dwelling; 

(D) Where the children of deceased or incapacitated parents occupy the homestead of their parents 

and one of the children stands in the relation of applicant. This subparagraph shall apply whether or 

not the estate is distributed; 
(E) Where a husband or wife occupies a dwelling and the title of the homestead is in the name of the 

wife; 
(F) In the event a dwelling house which is classed as a homestead is destroyed by fire, flood, storm, or 

other unavoidable accident or is demolished or repaired so that the owner is compelled to reside 
temporarily in another place, the dwelling house shall continue to be classed as a homestead for a 
period of one year after the occurrence; 
(G) In the event an individual who is the applicant owns two or more dwelling houses, he shall be 

allowed the exemption granted by law on only one of the houses. Only one homestead shall be 
allowed to one immediate family group; 
(H) Where property is owned and occupied jointly by two or more individuals all of whom occupy the 

property as a home and if the property is otherwise entitled to a homestead exemption, the 
homestead may be claimed in the names of the joint owners residing in the home. Where the property 
on which a homestead exemption is claimed is jointly owned by the occupant and others, the occupant 
or occupants shall be entitled to claim the full amount of the homestead exemption; 
(I) The permanent place of residence of an individual in the armed forces. Any such residence shall be 

construed to be actually occupied as the place of abode of such individual when the family of the 
individual resides in the residence or when the family is forced to live elsewhere because of the 
individual’s service in the armed forces; 
(J) Absence of an individual from his residence because of duty in the armed forces shall not be 

considered as a waiver upon the part of the individual in applying for a homestead exemption. Any 
member of the immediate family of the individual or a friend of the individual may notify the tax 
receiver or the tax commissioner of the individual’s absence. Upon receipt of this notice, the tax 

receiver or tax commissioner shall grant the homestead exemption to the individual who is absent in 
the armed forces; 
(K) The homestead exempted must be actually occupied as the permanent residence and place of 

abode by the applicant awarded the exemption, and the homestead shall be the legal residence and 
domicile of the applicant for all purposes whatever; 

93

Item XI. 1.



(L) In all counties having a population of not less than 23,500 nor more than 23,675, according to the 

United States decennial census of 2010 or any future such census, where the person who is the 
applicant holds real property subject to a written lease; the applicant has held the property subject to 
such a lease for not less than three years prior to the year for which application is made; and the 
applicant is the owner of all improvements located on the real property; 
(M) The deed reflecting the actual ownership of the property for which the applicant seeks to receive a 

homestead exemption must be recorded in the deed records of the county prior to the filing of the 
application for the homestead exemption; and 
(N) Absence of an individual from such individual’s residence because of health reasons shall not in 

and of itself be considered as a waiver upon the part of the individual in applying for a homestead 
exemption if all other qualifications are otherwise met. Any member of the immediate family of the 
individual or a friend of the individual may notify the tax receiver or the tax commissioner of the 
individual’s absence. Upon receipt of this notice, the tax receiver or tax commissioner shall grant the 
homestead exemption to the individual who is absent for health reasons. 
(4) “Hospital” means an institution in which medical, surgical, or psychiatric care is provided to 

individuals who are sick, injured, diseased, mentally ill, or crippled. “Hospital” does not include an 

institution licensed as a nursing home under the laws of this state. 
(5) “Institutions of purely public charity,” “nonprofit hospitals,” and “hospitals not operated for the 

purpose of private or corporate profit and income” mean such institutions or hospitals which may have 
incidental income from paying patients when the income, if any, is devoted exclusively to the 
charitable purpose of caring for patients who are unable to pay and to maintaining, operating, and 

improving the facilities of such institutions and hospitals, and when the income is not directly or 
indirectly for distribution to shareholders in corporations owning such property or to other owners of 
such property. 
(6) “Occupied primarily as a dwelling” means: 
(A) The applicant or members of his family occupy the property as a home; or 
(B) 
(i) The applicant or members of his family occupy a portion of the property as a home; 
(ii) No more than one exemption may be claimed pursuant to this subparagraph in connection with the 

occupancy of one building, except in the case of a duplex or double occupancy dwelling when the line 
of division follows a natural and bona fide plan as to both land and building and the two units thus 

formed are separately owned and occupied. 

 

94

Item XI. 1.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Task Order 23-REQ-007 with Hussey Gay Bell for the Clarence E. 

Morgan Gymnasium Expansion design and construction management 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Multiple 

Meeting Date: November 15, 2022 

Item Description: Task Order 23-REQ-007 with Hussey Gay Bell for the Clarence E. 

Morgan Gymnasium Expansion design and construction management 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of Task Order 23-REQ-007 

with Hussey Gay Bell for the Clarence E. Morgan Gymnasium Expansion design and 

construction management 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff sent an RFP to the IDC consultants in September requesting proposals to 

design an expansion to the CEM Gymnasium for an EEMA and Recreation 

offices. Nine firms were contacted and one submittal was received.  

o Hussey Gay Bell: $198,000.00 

 Hussey Gay Bell was the original architect/engineer for the design of the current 

CEM Gym. Staff has reviewed the proposal and recommends award. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Task Order 23-REQ-007 with Hussey Gay Bell for the Clarence E. 

Morgan Gymnasium Expansion in the amount of $198,000.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Project Manager, Purchasing, Finance 

Funding Source: SPLOST 

Attachments: Task Order 23-REQ-007 and Attachment 

 

 

 

 

95

Item XI. 2.



23-REQ-007 – CEM Gym Expansion Design and Construction Management 
 

1 
 

 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 

 

TO: Hussey Gay Bell   

RE: NOTICE TO PROCEED 

        Task Order 23-REQ-007 – CEM Gym Expansion Design and Construction Management 

 

 

 

Please consider this your NOTICE TO PROCEED on the above referenced project. In accordance 

with the terms of the contract, work is to commence within 24 hours receipt of the Notice to Proceed 

unless otherwise agreed and to be completed within ____ calendar days from that time.  
 

 

     Dated this _____day of __________, 2022 

 

     Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 

             

     Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE: 

Receipt of the above Notice to Proceed is acknowledged. 

Contractor:________________________________________ 

By:       ________________________________________ 

Title:       ________________________________________ 

Date of Acceptance: _____________________________ 

 

 

96

Item XI. 2.



 

 

20 October 2022 
 
Ms. Alison Burton, Purchasing Agent 
EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 
 
RE: PROPOSED CLARENCE MORGAN GYM OFFICE EXPANSION 

ARCHITECTURAL & ENGINEERING DESIGN SERVICES FEE PROPOSAL 
23-REQ-007 

 
Dear Ms. Burton: 
 
Hussey Gay Bell is pleased to present to you our fee proposal for Architectural and Engineering design services for the 
proposed office expansion to the Clarence Morgan Gymnasium.  Please see below for our proposed fees.  
 
BASIC DESIGN SERVICES 
Basic Design Services includes architectural design, interior design, civil engineering and landscape design, structural 
engineering, and P/M/E/FP engineering.  We will provide the necessary construction documents (drawings and 
specifications) to obtain the basic building permits, and allow for competitive bidding and construction of the proposed 
addition.  The scope of work for basic design services includes design, permitting, bidding, construction administration, 
and project closeout.  Also included is detailed cost estimating.  We propose to provide Basic Design Services for a not-
to-exceed fee of $198,000.00, based on the IDC rates.  The proposed fee breaks down as follows. 
 
 HGB Architecture and Interiors  47% 
 HGB Civil Engineering   15% 
 HGB Structural Engineering  10% 
 SDC P/M/E/FP Engineering  25% 
 Accelerate Cost Estimating   3% 
 
The above fee is based on the 2019 conceptual expansion plan, that is approximately 6,000 SF.   
 
POSSIBLE ADDITIONAL SERVICES   
These services are not included in Basic Design Services above.  If any of these services are required or desired, we can 
negotiate an acceptable fee at the appropriate time.  Some of these may not be applicable to this project. 
 
 Topographic Survey  
 Geotechnical Report      
 Phase I ESA     
 Special Inspections Required by IBC 2018   
 Structural Observations Required by IBC 2018 
 Deep or Special Foundations  
 Traffic Study        
 Off-site Utilities and  
 Sanitary Sewer Pump Station and Force Main   
 Boundary and Easement Plats 
 ALTA Survey 
 Property Staking     
 Zoning       
 Site Lighting      
 Specialty Permitting (GDOT, USA COE, Rail, etc.)       
 Code or Regulation Changes      
 Wetlands Delineation and Mitigation 
 Flood Plain Studies and Mitigation 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

97

Item XI. 2.



 

 

 Environmental Studies      
 LEED Certification      
 Furniture       
 Hi-Res 3-D Color Rendering     
 Value Engineering      
 Specialty Consultants (A/V, IT-Low Voltage, Food Service, etc.)    
 Commissioning      
 Fire Demand Analysis  
  
      
REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES   
Reimbursable expenses include overnight postage (FedEx, UPS), outside printing, out of town travel (we consider 
Effingham County to be local), and any associated permitting fees.  Reimbursable expenses will be marked up by 10%.  
We recommend a reimbursable allowance of $3,000.00. 
 
If you have any questions, please give me a call.  Thank you for this opportunity and we are looking forward to working 
with Effingham County on another successful project.  
 
Sincerely, 
HUSSEY GAY BELL & DEYOUNG INTERNATIONAL, INC. 
 

Robert Armstrong, AIA 
 
Robert Armstrong, AIA 
Vice President 
 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

98

Item XI. 2.



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IDC – Request for Proposal 
23-REQ-007 

2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion  
Design Services 

 
October 20, 2022, 11:00 a.m. 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

99

Item XI. 2.



 
 

  
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County 2 

Table of Contents 

A. Letter of Interest 
 
B. Proposed Schedule 

 
C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

 
D. Fee (provided in a separate document) 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

100

Item XI. 2.



 
 

  
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County 3 

A. Letter of Interest 

A. Letter of Interest 
 
October 20, 2022 
 
Ms. Alison Bruton 
Purchasing Agent 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 

  

RE: RFP, 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion – Design Services 
 
Dear Ms. Bruton and Members of the Selection Committee: 
 
Hussey, Gay, Bell & DeYoung International, Inc. (herein referred to as “Hussey Gay Bell”) respectfully requests consideration for 
the subject project. A few select points about the enclosed qualifications: 
 
Local Government, It’s What We Do. Hussey Gay Bell is a regionally recognized, award-winning A-E firm specializing in the design 
of Government, Judicial, Civic, Fire, Public Safety, and Police Facilities. Hussey Gay Bell’s seasoned team of experts understands 
and embraces the unique requirements and design considerations each of these facilities require to be successfully delivered 
and provides a range of services including feasibility studies, needs assessments, programming, master planning, design, and 
construction administration services for these highly specialized facilities. Hussey Gay Bell’s architects, interior designers and 
engineers work closely with Elected Officials, Directors, Department/Office Heads, and other stakeholders to design facilities 
that consider short- and long-term needs – to design facilities that embrace your programmatic needs now but also provide for 
growth provisions well into the future. We design facilities that enhance safety and well-being, facilities that reduce stress 
through smart design, facilities that embrace the local community design standards, and facilities that embrace the latest 
trends in design. 
 
We Are Local And We Know Effingham County. Hussey Gay Bell’s office is 45 minutes from the project site ensuring the firm’s 
ability to be proactive and efficient throughout the life of the project. In addition to designing and completing the original 
Clarence E. Morgan gym as well as providing the master plan concepts for future expansion to the gym, we have also completed 
52 other projects for Effingham County. We know the community, the staff, the permitting process and most importantly, the 
essence of Effingham County. There is no learning curve. 
 
We are eager to continue our work on this project and with Effingham County and trust our experience, suitability and experience 
on similar projects will best serve the interests of all stakeholders. The firm commits to the requirements specified in this RFP. I 
acknowledge receipt of Addendum No.1 dated September 12, 2022; Addendum No. 2 dated September 27, 2022; and 
Addendum No. 3 dated September 29, 2022 and we appreciate the opportunity to submit our qualifications to highlight our 
expertise. We look forward to your favorable consideration. Please contact me directly at 912.354.4626 or 
rarmstrong@husseygaybell.com if you have any questions or desire additional information in making your selection. 
 
Sincerely, 
HUSSEY, GAY, BELL & DEYOUNG INTERNATIONAL, INC. 
 

 
 

Robert Armstrong, AIA 
Principal 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

101

Item XI. 2.



 
 

   
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County                 4 

B. Proposed Schedule 

B. Proposed Schedule 
 
 
 
 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

102

Item XI. 2.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County 5 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 
 
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING & EXPERTISE: 
Per the RFP, we understand that Effingham County is seeking architectural and engineering design services to perform needed 
services to prepare an expansion of the current Clarence E. Morgan Gym. The expansion will provide additional office space for 
the Recreation Department, office space for the Effingham Emergency Management Agency, and create an Emergency 
Operations Center with auxiliary facilities that will also serve as a multi-purpose community room.  
 
Hussey Gay Bell is the most qualified firm for this expansion project having designed and completed the original gym as well as 
provided the master plan concepts for future expansion to the gym. We also have extensive experience with 
expansions/additions, multi-purpose community spaces, and emergency operations. In addition to expansions/additions 
projects, Hussey Gay Bell often designs buildings with shell space to build out in the future. Similar project experience is 
provided below followed by our typical project approach.  
 

 
Effingham County Clarence E. Morgan Complex Phase 2 – New Gym, Springfield, GA 
 
Facilities with multi-purpose community spaces: 

    
Floyd Adams Jr. City Services Complex; SMPD Central Police Precinct; Penn Ave Resources Center – Savannah, GA 
 
Facilities with emergency operations: 
 Public Safety Complex, Forsyth County, GA 
 Hall County Sheriff’s Office, Gainesville, GA 
 Emergency Operations Center, North Charleston, SC 
 Goshen Road Public Safety Building, Effingham County, GA 
 Floyd Adams, Jr. City Services Complex, Savannah, GA 

 
Expansion projects: 
 Effingham County Jail & Sheriff’s Office, Springfield, GA 
 W. Harold Pate Courthouse Annex Building Expansion, Glynn County, GA 
 Floyd Adams, Jr. City Services Complex, Savannah, GA 
 Savannah Convention Center, Savannah, GA 
 Toombs County Justice Center, Lyons, GA 
 Pooler City Hall, Pooler, GA 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

103

Item XI. 2.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County 6 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

Our proposed implementation plan and programming process is described below.   
 
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN/PROGRAMMING PROCESS: 
At Hussey Gay Bell, we define architectural programming as the research and decision-making process that identifies the scope 
of work to be designed. We understand the various programmatic components of your project and have significant experience 
with expansions/additions of municipal facilities. Hussey Gay Bell understands that programming and its attention to the end-
users of buildings is a priority. The advantages of programming are: 
 
 Involvement of interested parties in the definition of the scope of work prior to the design effort. 
 Emphasis on gathering and analyzing data early in the process so that the design is based upon sound decisions. 
 Efficiencies gained by avoiding redesign as requirements emerge during architectural design. 

 
Our goal is a "whole building" design approach 
intended to create a successful high-
performance building. To achieve that goal, 
Hussey Gay Bell will apply an integrated design 
approach to the project during the planning and 
programming phases. Architectural 
programming is inherently a team process. 
Individuals involved in the building design 
should interact closely throughout the design 
process. The County, as owner, the building 
occupants, and operation and maintenance 
personnel should be involved to contribute their 
understanding of how the building and its 
systems will work for them once they occupy it.  
 
County Staff Involvement 
Prior to the beginning of the programming process with the County, the Hussey Gay Bell team will meet with the County staff to 
develop a list of the stakeholders to be involved. Lines of communication will be established to determine how and when 
meetings will be called, what the agenda will be, how records of the meetings will be kept, and how decisions are made. Our 
consensus-building approach for identifying the space needs of the project will include the following: 
 
 A visioning Programming Workshop (if desired); 
 Confirmation of required spaces and departments;  
 Establishment of the size and relationships of these spaces;  
 Review and refinement of plans using 3-D blocking; and  
 Project budget and schedule requirements.  

 
The intent of our Programming Workshop is to confirm the mission and vision for your buildings by discussion of such factors as 
desired culture, growth goals, strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and strategic plan. Specific project guidelines (function, 
aesthetics, contextual issues, sustainability, maintainability, budget, schedule) must be addressed to ensure that each 
stakeholder’s unique definition of a successful project will be identified and documented. Participants are encouraged, at this 
stage of the project, to include comments and creative contributions within their areas of expertise as well as in areas outside 
their respective disciplines. The objective of the Workshop is to clearly disseminate their expectations for the project to the 
design team and for all participants to understand what is needed to make the project a success. This is the first step to 
establishing the cohesive team that will bring the project into reality. Possible agenda topics include the following:  
 
 Introduce the County’s Team to the Design Team.  

Programming and Concept Stacking Diagram for Toombs County Judicial 
Center (from the Feasibility Study) 

 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

104

Item XI. 2.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County 7 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

 Discuss goals and visions for the project.  
 Review, discuss and prioritize the program objectives. 
 Discuss architectural components, including the Judicial 

Center’s contextual setting and site plan options.  
 Confirm the initial schedule.  
 Discuss workplace synergies and opportunities.  
 Discuss design/site concept options and eliminate dead 

ends.  
 Re-state cultural goals, mission, and vision for the project 

in light of the discussions.  
 Confirm the mission and vision statements for the project 

and for the team. 
 Review previous expansion concept designs from Hussey 

Gay Bell (exhibit provided on page 10). 
 
Upon understanding clear goals and objectives for the project, the 
Design Team will organize and facilitate workshops with the 
multiple stakeholders and our programming/visioning experts to 
develop general descriptions of the spaces required to meet their 
general, specific, short- and long-range needs in all the Program 
divisions. We will incorporate technology integration, acoustics, 
lighting, building efficiency, building security and building 
operational intent. We have found that addressing the 
programmatic needs requires extensive technical expertise, and 
communication is key to the ultimate successful development of 
the project. We work hard to create an open atmosphere where all 
of the goals and objectives of the user groups and our resulting recommendations are thoroughly understood.  
 
To control potential scope creep post-Program Workshop, it’s critical that the County designate an individual or committee of 
individuals at project kick-off that will ultimately have the authority to make decisions on behalf of the County. When the County 
requests a change in scope, Mr. Armstrong will immediately work to price out the change and confirm what effects (if any) it will 
have on the overall budget and schedule. Any changes in scope will be discussed by key decision-makers for the County in the 
next scheduled meeting and to discuss the impacts on the budget and schedule. 
 
Programming Deliverables  
The usual deliverable is a written architectural program, which is a comprehensive report that includes documentation of the 
methodology used, an executive summary, value and goal statements, the relevant facts, data analysis conclusions, and the 
program requirements, including space listings by function and size, relationship diagrams, space program sheets, stacking 
plans, and flow diagrams. Our comprehensive program will also include project cost estimates and a project schedule. Also 
included in the deliverables will be concept floor plans, a conceptual site plan and concept elevations and renderings. The site 
plan will be particularly important because the county intends to eventually relocate all count services to this site.  It is imperative 
to masterplan the site and locate the new courthouse, parking, and site utilities to allow for future buildings and parking. 
 
Schematic Design, Construction Documents and Schedule 
Early in the SD phase, we will want to have a detailed work session with key stakeholders to discuss every aspect of their space. 
In this session, we will go through every piece of casework, electrical outlet, technology requirements, etc. to ensure that 
everyone’s expectations are met and that we are following the County’s guide specifications and requirements. We have found 
that these work sessions aid in compressing the schedule by ensuring a majority of the decisions are made and agreed to early 
in the process to avoid backtracking later. We have also built in the standard review times of our documents along the process.  

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

105

Item XI. 2.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County 8 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

 
Cost Management  
Our team will work closely with the County and the construction 
contractor to make sure all costs are accounted for at each 
phase of the design process. However, the most important 
estimate will be the first one, during programming and concept 
design.  It is at this point we will establish our path forward, 
having determined the construction phasing option that 
maximizes your construction budget. 
 
Controlling Costs 
 Begins with Programming & Concepts; 
 Milestone Estimates; 
 Value Engineering at Each Milestone; and 
 Ends with QA/QC to Avoid Change Orders. 

 
Program vs. Budget 
As the preliminary cost estimates demonstrate and confirm, the majority of all project costs reside in 5 core areas: 
 

1) Efficiency (“Grossing Factor”): Ultimately, you are paying for the size of the building, and it is critical to confirm the 
building is not over-programmed. First, wants and needs must be separated. Secondly, the non-programmed space 
(i.e. circulation, restrooms, etc.) can vary widely. The efficiency of the plan can reduce the overall area. 

2) Foundation & Structures 
3) Skin & Roof 
4) Mechanical Infrastructure 
5) Electrical Infrastructure 

 
Value Engineering – Optimized Project Value 
With the cost models and ability to reconcile the project 
budget and scope, value engineering is often times 
greatly reduced if not eliminated from the design 
process. However, there are times when budgets or 
scopes of work change and value engineering is required 
to regain budget compliance. In these situations, we 
work closely with the Owner to arrive at the most non-
invasive and design sensitive value engineering options, 
while trying to keep the Owner’s program intact. With 
timely and accurate pricing, we are able to use the 
information to develop a roadmap to budget 

compliance. 
 
Mr. Robert Armstrong will serve as the team’s leader on this project. Mr. Armstrong will have responsibility and accountability to 
the County and other key stakeholders. This includes oversight of the total project budget, schedule, and overall design quality. 
 
Reconciliation 
At each phase of the process, Hussey Gay Bell will review the schedule, budget, quality assurance and confirm that the Owner’s 
objectives are met. Cost estimates will be incorporated at SD, DD, and GMP milestones. At each milestone, the County will issue 
approval to proceed to the next phase, including design and estimate, or instruct the team to modify the design to meet the 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

106

Item XI. 2.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County 9 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

Owner’s budget (if exceeded). A team relationship is critical to the success of the project and ensuring that the final product is 
reflective not of Hussey Gay Bell's preferences, but of those of the County. 
 
Process of Resolving Issues, Maintaining Project Commitments and Procedures for Solving Complex Project Issues 
At the project kick-off meeting, roles and responsibilities will be defined. Primary points-of-contact will be established for each 
team member and stakeholder entity. This protocol will help establish effective communication paths and provide the basis for 
maintaining timely project commitments to bring every issue to a successful resolution. It will also serve as the baseline for 
solving the many challenging opportunities and issues that will arise over the life of the project and will be the basis for conflict 
resolution.  
 
As complex issues arise, we will use the following routine methods to address each issue: 
 
 Break the complex issue(s) into several fewer complex parts.  
 Set realistic time frames for solving the core parts of each issue. 
 Assign responsibilities to the appropriately qualified team members for each core part. 
 Bring the responsible parties together for a collaborative problem-solving session. 
 Collect third party advice from experts, if required. 
 When several solutions are optimum, work with the team to select the solution that is appropriate for the circumstances 

and consider budget implications. 
 Hold team meetings on a weekly or as-needed basis during the programming, conceptual design, and design phases. 
 Hold team meetings on a bi-weekly basis during the construction document and construction contract administration 

phases. 
 Clearly and concisely document the issues, core parts, responsible parties, due dates, possible solutions and final solution 

in meeting notes. 
 
Methods and Plans of Communication   
With Mr. Armstrong managing all communications, one person will be fully knowledgeable of where the project is and the 
decisions made as it progresses. In addition to the detailed submittal and review process, Hussey Gay Bell will supplement the 
decisions and data inputs throughout the process with meeting minutes and recorded email traffic. Day-to-day communications 
between the County and the design team will flow through Mr. Armstrong. 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

107

Item XI. 2.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County                 10 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

 
 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

108

Item XI. 2.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County 11 

D. Fee 

D. Fee 
 
Provided in a separate document. 
 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

109

Item XI. 2.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OFFICE LOCATIONS 
 
329 Commercial Drive, Suite 200 
Savannah, GA 31406 
912.354.4626 
 

3100 Breckinridge Boulevard, Building 
300 
Duluth, GA 30096 
770.476.7782 
 
322 West Main Street, Suite 2E 
Blue Ridge, Georgia 30513 
706.621.4981 
 
1100 Brampton Ave., Suite L-1 
Statesboro, GA 30458 
912.354.4626 
 
1010 Gervais, Floor 3 
Columbia, SC 29201 
803.799.0444 
 
531 South Main Street, Suite 201 
Greenville, SC 29601 
803.799.0444 
 
474 Wando Park Blvd., Suite 201 
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464 
843.849.7500 
 
4117 Hillsboro Pike, Suite 206 
Nashville, TN 37215 
615.460.7515 
 
www.husseygaybell.com 
 

 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-007

110

Item XI. 2.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Task Order 23-REQ-008 with Hussey Gay Bell for the Historic 

Central School renovation/restoration design and construction management 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Multiple 

Meeting Date: November 15, 2022 

Item Description: Task Order 23-REQ-008 with Hussey Gay Bell for the Historic 

Central School renovation/restoration design and construction management 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of Task Order 23-REQ-008 

with Hussey Gay Bell for the Historic Central School renovation/restoration design and 

construction management 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff sent an RFP to the IDC consultants in September requesting proposals to 

design the renovation/restoration of the Historic Central School Facility. Nine 

firms were contacted and one submittal was received.  

o Hussey Gay Bell: $410,000.00 

 Staff has reviewed the proposal and recommends award. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Task Order 23-REQ-008 with Hussey Gay Bell for the 

renovation/restoration of the Historic Central School Facility in the amount of 

$410,000.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Project Manager, Purchasing, Finance 

Funding Source: SPLOST 

Attachments: Task Order 23-REQ-008 and Attachment 

 

 

 

 

111

Item XI. 3.



23-REQ-008 – Historic Central School Renovation/Restoration Design and CM 
 

1 
 

 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 

 

TO: Hussey Gay Bell   

RE: NOTICE TO PROCEED 

        Task Order 23-REQ-008 – Historic Central School Renovation/Restoration Design and CM 

 

 

 

Please consider this your NOTICE TO PROCEED on the above referenced project. In accordance 

with the terms of the contract, work is to commence within 24 hours receipt of the Notice to Proceed 

unless otherwise agreed and to be completed within ____ calendar days from that time.  
 

 

     Dated this _____day of __________, 2022 

 

     Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 

             

     Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE: 

Receipt of the above Notice to Proceed is acknowledged. 

Contractor:________________________________________ 

By:       ________________________________________ 

Title:       ________________________________________ 

Date of Acceptance: _____________________________ 

 

 

112

Item XI. 3.



Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

113

Item XI. 3.



Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

114

Item XI. 3.



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IDC – Request for Proposal 
23-REQ-008 

Historic Central School Restoration 
Design Services 

 
October 27, 2022, 11:00 am 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

115

Item XI. 3.



 
 

  
 

 

Request for Proposal Historic Central School Restoration – Design Services -Effingham County 2 

Table of Contents 

A. Letter of Interest 
 
B. Proposed Schedule 

 
C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

 
D. Fee (provided in a separate document) 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

116

Item XI. 3.



 
 

  
 

 

Request for Proposal Historic Central School Restoration – Design Services -Effingham County 3 

A. Letter of Interest 

A. Letter of Interest 
 

October 27, 2022 
 
Ms. Alison Bruton 
Purchasing Agent 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 

  

RE: 23-REQ-008 Historic Central School Restoration Design Services 
 

Dear Ms. Bruton and Members of the Selection Committee: 
 

Hussey, Gay, Bell & DeYoung International, Inc. (herein referred to as “Hussey Gay Bell”) respectfully requests consideration for 
the subject project. A few select points about the enclosed qualifications: 
 
Local Government, It’s What We Do. Hussey Gay Bell is a regionally-recognized, award-winning A-E firm specializing in the design 
of Government, Judicial, Civic, Fire, Public Safety, and Police Facilities. Hussey Gay Bell’s seasoned team of experts understands 
and embraces the unique requirements and design considerations each of these facilities require to be successfully delivered 
and provides a range of services including feasibility studies, needs assessments, programming, master planning, design, and 
construction administration services for these highly specialized facilities. Hussey Gay Bell’s architects, interior designers and 
engineers work closely with Elected Officials, Directors, Department/Office Heads, and other stakeholders to design facilities 
that consider short- and long-term needs – to design facilities that embrace your programmatic needs now but also provide for 
growth provisions well into the future. We design facilities that enhance safety and well-being, facilities that reduce stress 
through smart design, facilities that embrace the local community design standards, and facilities that embrace the latest 
trends in design. 
 
Historical Research & Renovation. Hussey Gay Bell has extensive experience working on historic buildings and completing 
historic renovations. Each project requires intimate attention to detail and communication with the community and, by 
extension, the neighborhood in which the project is taking place. This team knows what it will take to succeed in ushering historic 
projects through successful planning and design strategies. 
 
We Are Local And We Know Effingham County. Hussey Gay Bell’s office is 33 miles from the project site ensuring the firm’s ability 
to be proactive and efficient throughout the life of the project. We have completed 53 projects for Effingham County. We know 
the community, the staff, the permitting process and most importantly, the essence of Effingham County. There is no learning 
curve. 
 
We are eager to work on this project and with Effingham County and trust our experience, suitability and experience on similar 
projects will best serve the interests of all stakeholders. The firm commits to the requirements specified in this RFP. I 
acknowledge receipt of Addendum No. 1, dated 10/5/22 and answers to questions, dated 10/11/22. We appreciate the 
opportunity to submit our qualifications to highlight our expertise. We look forward to your favorable consideration. Please 
contact me directly at 912.354.4626 or rarmstrong@husseygaybell.com if you have any questions or desire additional 
information in making your selection. 
 
Sincerely, 
HUSSEY, GAY, BELL & DEYOUNG INTERNATIONAL, INC. 
 

 
 

Robert Armstrong, AIA 
Principal & Vice President 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

117

Item XI. 3.



 
 

   
 

 

Request for Proposal Historic Central School Restoration – Design Services -Effingham County                 4 

B. Proposed Schedule 

B. Proposed Schedule 
 
 
 
 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

118

Item XI. 3.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal Historic Central School Restoration – Design Services -Effingham County 5 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 
 
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING & EXPERTISE: 
Per the RFP, we understand that Effingham County is seeking architectural services to complete a major renovation of the Central 
School for use by the Recreation Department, Elections, Facility Maintenance, Equalization Museum, and a climate-controlled 
storage facility for County records. Architectural services include assessment, concept plans, cost projections for associated 
concepts, architectural drawings of the accepted concept and follow-on project management of the addition to be bid in a later 
released RFP.   
 
Hussey Gay Bell is the most qualified firm for this restoration project because we have extensive experience in this type of project. 
A similar historic renovation project is provided below followed by our typical project approach.  
 
Historic Effingham County Courthouse (2010) 

Constructed in 1908, the original Effingham County 
Courthouse was designed by Hyman Witcover, a local 
Savannah architect at the time. Due to the historical 
significance of the building, the design/build team of 
J.T. Turner Construction, Hussey Gay Bell and 
Greenline Architecture analyzed the architectural 
character of the building and followed the Secretary of 
the Interior Standards for Historic Preservation in 
renovating the structure. Much of the building, along 
with the courtroom, was restored to its original 1908 
appearance. The building achieved LEED Gold 
certification with the USGBC and is a recipient of the 

2012 Georgia Trust for Historic Preservation, Excellence in Preservation Award. 
 
The original courthouse is a cross-shaped plan and included county legal 
offices on the first floor.  The second floor included the courtroom, judges’ 
offices, and jury rooms. The 1979 addition included modern additions like 
toilets, elevator and more county offices. Hussey Gay Bell’s scope of work 
was to completely restore the original old 1908 courthouse, per the 
Secretary of Interior’s guidelines for historic preservation. 
 
Exterior repairs included replacing the roof, minor repairs to the dome and 
decorative balustrade on the roof parapet, restoring and re-glazing all 
exterior windows, and re-pointing the masonry joints where necessary. 
Interior work included restoring the interior to its original condition. The 
many layers of paint, built up over the years, were stripped, in an effort to 
find the original paint colors.  The wood floors, covered by layers of old 
carpet and tile were stripped and refinished. Some unique interior features 
included wooden chairs in the jury area and balcony. These wooden chairs 
were saved and restored. The 1979 addition was completely gutted and 
now houses county offices. The entire building was brought up to modern 
building codes, to include life safety, fire alarm, new elevator, fire sprinkler, 
and ADA accessibility. The entire building also received state of the art 
plumbing, mechanical, electrical, data, and communications systems. The 
building is on the National Register of Historic Places. 
 
Size: 16,000 SF | Construction Cost: $3,400,000 

Before After 

Before After 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

119

Item XI. 3.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal Historic Central School Restoration – Design Services -Effingham County 6 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

Roof Consulting 
Hussey Gay Bell is experienced with the design of roof renovation projects, having completed over 35 roof renovation projects 
in the past 15 years alone. Many of our projects consist of complicated interior and exterior renovations that often times require 
re-roofing as part of the scope of work.  We have the in-house capabilities to fully assist RCSS with this service having a registered 
architect & roof specialist, Mr. Greg Skinner, AIA, RRC, LEED AP and structural engineers for roof framing and reinforced roofing.  
 
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN/PROGRAMMING PROCESS: 
At Hussey Gay Bell, we define architectural programming as the research and decision-making process that identifies the scope 
of work to be designed. We understand the various programmatic components of your project and have significant experience 
with expansions/additions of municipal facilities. Hussey Gay Bell understands that programming and its attention to the end-
users of buildings is a priority. The advantages of programming are: 
 
 Involvement of interested parties in the definition of the scope of work prior to the design effort. 
 Emphasis on gathering and analyzing data early in the process so that the design is based upon sound decisions. 
 Efficiencies gained by avoiding redesign as requirements emerge during architectural design. 

 
Our goal is a "whole building" design approach 
intended to create a successful high-
performance building. To achieve that goal, 
Hussey Gay Bell will apply an integrated design 
approach to the project during the planning and 
programming phases. Architectural 
programming is inherently a team process. 
Individuals involved in the building design 
should interact closely throughout the design 
process. The County, as owner, the building 
occupants, and operation and maintenance 
personnel should be involved to contribute their 
understanding of how the building and its 
systems will work for them once they occupy it.  
 
County Staff Involvement 
Prior to the beginning of the programming process with the County, the Hussey Gay Bell team will meet with the County staff to 
develop a list of the stakeholders to be involved. Lines of communication will be established to determine how and when 
meetings will be called, what the agenda will be, how records of the meetings will be kept, and how decisions are made. Our 
consensus-building approach for identifying the space needs of the project will include the following: 
 
 A visioning Programming Workshop (if desired); 
 Confirmation of required spaces and departments;  
 Establishment of the size and relationships of these spaces;  
 Review and refinement of plans using 3-D blocking; and  
 Project budget and schedule requirements.  

 
The intent of our Programming Workshop is to confirm the mission and vision for your buildings by discussion of such factors as 
desired culture, growth goals, strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and strategic plan. Specific project guidelines (function, 
aesthetics, contextual issues, sustainability, maintainability, budget, schedule) must be addressed to ensure that each 

Programming and Concept Stacking Diagram for Toombs County Judicial 
Center (from the Feasibility Study) 

 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

120

Item XI. 3.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal Historic Central School Restoration – Design Services -Effingham County 7 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

stakeholder’s unique definition of a successful project will be 
identified and documented. Participants are encouraged, at this 
stage of the project, to include comments and creative 
contributions within their areas of expertise as well as in areas 
outside their respective disciplines. The objective of the 
Workshop is to clearly disseminate their expectations for the 
project to the design team and for all participants to understand 
what is needed to make the project a success. This is the first step 
to establishing the cohesive team that will bring the project into 
reality. Possible agenda topics include the following:  
 
 Introduce the County’s Team to the Design Team.  
 Discuss goals and visions for the project.  
 Review, discuss and prioritize the program objectives. 
 Discuss architectural components, including the 

Judicial Center’s contextual setting and site plan 
options.  

 Confirm the initial schedule.  
 Discuss workplace synergies and opportunities.  
 Discuss design/site concept options and eliminate 

dead ends.  
 Re-state cultural goals, mission, and vision for the 

project in light of the discussions.  
 Confirm the mission and vision statements for the 

project and for the team. 
 
Upon understanding clear goals and objectives for the project, the Design Team will organize and facilitate workshops with the 
multiple stakeholders and our programming/visioning experts to develop general descriptions of the spaces required to meet 
their general, specific, short- and long-range needs in all the Program divisions. We will incorporate technology integration, 
acoustics, lighting, building efficiency, building security and building operational intent. We have found that addressing the 
programmatic needs requires extensive technical expertise, and communication is key to the ultimate successful development 
of the project. We work hard to create an open atmosphere where all of the goals and objectives of the user groups and our 
resulting recommendations are thoroughly understood.  
 
To control potential scope creep post-Program Workshop, it’s critical that the County designate an individual or committee of 
individuals at project kick-off that will ultimately have the authority to make decisions on behalf of the County. When the County 
requests a change in scope, Mr. Armstrong will immediately work to price out the change and confirm what effects (if any) it will 
have on the overall budget and schedule. Any changes in scope will be discussed by key decision-makers for the County in the 
next scheduled meeting and to discuss the impacts on the budget and schedule. 
 
Programming Deliverables  
The usual deliverable is a written architectural program, which is a comprehensive report that includes documentation of the 
methodology used, an executive summary, value and goal statements, the relevant facts, data analysis conclusions, and the 
program requirements, including space listings by function and size, relationship diagrams, space program sheets, stacking 
plans, and flow diagrams. Our comprehensive program will also include project cost estimates and a project schedule. Also 
included in the deliverables will be concept floor plans, a conceptual site plan and concept elevations and renderings. The site 
plan will be particularly important because the county intends to eventually relocate all count services to this site.  It is imperative 
to master plan the site and locate the new courthouse, parking, and site utilities to allow for future buildings and parking. 
 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

121

Item XI. 3.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal Historic Central School Restoration – Design Services -Effingham County 8 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

Schematic Design, Construction Documents and Schedule 
Early in the SD phase, we will want to have a detailed work session with key stakeholders to discuss every aspect of their space. 
In this session, we will go through every piece of casework, electrical outlet, technology requirements, etc. to ensure that 
everyone’s expectations are met and that we are following the County’s guide specifications and requirements. We have found 
that these work sessions aid in compressing the schedule by ensuring a majority of the decisions are made and agreed to early 
in the process to avoid backtracking later. We have also built in the standard review times of our documents along the process.  
 
Cost Management  
Our team will work closely with the County and the construction 
contractor to make sure all costs are accounted for at each 
phase of the design process. However, the most important 
estimate will be the first one, during programming and concept 
design.  It is at this point we will establish our path forward, 
having determined the construction phasing option that 
maximizes your construction budget. 
 
Controlling Costs 
 Begins with Programming & Concepts; 
 Milestone Estimates; 
 Value Engineering at Each Milestone; and 
 Ends with QA/QC to Avoid Change Orders. 

 
Program vs. Budget 
As the preliminary cost estimates demonstrate and confirm, the majority of all project costs reside in 5 core areas: 
 

1) Efficiency (“Grossing Factor”): Ultimately, you are paying for the size of the building, and it is critical to confirm the 
building is not over-programmed. First, wants and needs must be separated. Secondly, the non-programmed space 
(i.e. circulation, restrooms, etc.) can vary widely. The efficiency of the plan can reduce the overall area. 

2) Foundation & Structures 
3) Skin & Roof 
4) Mechanical Infrastructure 
5) Electrical Infrastructure 

 
Value Engineering – Optimized Project Value 
With the cost models and ability to reconcile the project 
budget and scope, value engineering is often times greatly 
reduced if not eliminated from the design process. 
However, there are times when budgets or scopes of work 
change and value engineering is required to regain budget 
compliance. In these situations, we work closely with the 
Owner to arrive at the most non-invasive and design 
sensitive value engineering options, while trying to keep 
the Owner’s program intact. With timely and accurate 
pricing, we are able to use the information to develop a 
roadmap to budget compliance. 

 
Mr. Robert Armstrong will serve as the team’s leader on this project. Mr. Armstrong will have responsibility and accountability to 
the County and other key stakeholders. This includes oversight of the total project budget, schedule, and overall design quality. 
 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

122

Item XI. 3.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal Historic Central School Restoration – Design Services -Effingham County 9 

C. Project Approach/Work Plan 

Reconciliation 
At each phase of the process, Hussey Gay Bell will review the schedule, budget, quality assurance and confirm that the Owner’s 
objectives are met. Cost estimates will be incorporated at SD, DD, and GMP milestones. At each milestone, the County will issue 
approval to proceed to the next phase, including design and estimate, or instruct the team to modify the design to meet the 
Owner’s budget (if exceeded). A team relationship is critical to the success of the project and ensuring that the final product is 
reflective not of Hussey Gay Bell's preferences, but of those of the County. 
 
Process of Resolving Issues, Maintaining Project Commitments and Procedures for Solving Complex Project Issues 
At the project kick-off meeting, roles and responsibilities will be defined. Primary points-of-contact will be established for each 
team member and stakeholder entity. This protocol will help establish effective communication paths and provide the basis for 
maintaining timely project commitments to bring every issue to a successful resolution. It will also serve as the baseline for 
solving the many challenging opportunities and issues that will arise over the life of the project and will be the basis for conflict 
resolution.  
 
As complex issues arise, we will use the following routine methods to address each issue: 
 
 Break the complex issue(s) into several fewer complex parts.  
 Set realistic time frames for solving the core parts of each issue. 
 Assign responsibilities to the appropriately qualified team members for each core part. 
 Bring the responsible parties together for a collaborative problem-solving session. 
 Collect third party advice from experts, if required. 
 When several solutions are optimum, work with the team to select the solution that is appropriate for the circumstances 

and consider budget implications. 
 Hold team meetings on a weekly or as-needed basis during the programming, conceptual design, and design phases. 
 Hold team meetings on a bi-weekly basis during the construction document and construction contract administration 

phases. 
 Clearly and concisely document the issues, core parts, responsible parties, due dates, possible solutions and final solution 

in meeting notes. 
 
Methods and Plans of Communication   
With Mr. Armstrong managing all communications, one person will be fully knowledgeable of where the project is and the 
decisions made as it progresses. In addition to the detailed submittal and review process, Hussey Gay Bell will supplement the 
decisions and data inputs throughout the process with meeting minutes and recorded email traffic. Day-to-day communications 
between the County and the design team will flow through Mr. Armstrong. 
 
 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

123

Item XI. 3.



 
  
  
 

 

Request for Proposal 2022 Clarence E. Morgan Gym Office Expansion -Effingham County 10 

D. Fee 

D. Fee 
 
Provided in a separate document. 
 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

124

Item XI. 3.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OFFICE LOCATIONS 
 
329 Commercial Drive, Suite 200 
Savannah, GA 31406 
912.354.4626 
 

3100 Breckinridge Boulevard, Building 300 
Duluth, GA 30096 
770.476.7782 
 
322 West Main Street, Suite 2E 
Blue Ridge, Georgia 30513 
706.621.4981 
 
1100 Brampton Ave., Suite L-1 
Statesboro, GA 30458 
912.354.4626 
 
1010 Gervais, Floor 3 
Columbia, SC 29201 
803.799.0444 
 
531 South Main Street, Suite 201 
Greenville, SC 29601 
803.799.0444 
 
474 Wando Park Blvd., Suite 201 
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464 
843.849.7500 
 
4117 Hillsboro Pike, Suite 206 
Nashville, TN 37215 
615.460.7515 
 
www.husseygaybell.com 
 

 

Attachment to Task Order 23-REQ-008

125

Item XI. 3.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of an Amended Change Order #1 for Contract 22-25-008-1 to Ranger 

Construction for the FDRE of Ash Roads 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: November 15, 2022 

Item Description: Amended Change Order #1 for Contract 22-25-008-1 to Ranger Construction 

for the FDRE of Ash Roads 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Amended Change Order #1 

for Contract 22-25-008-1 to Ranger Construction for the FDRE of Ash Roads 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 In June of 2022, the Board approved Contract 22-25-008-1 with Ranger Construction for 

the FDRE of Ash Roads. After negotiation with Ranger, they were able to reduce their 

bid price; however, the Board approved the higher contract amount to maintain a 

contingency amount in case of future change orders. 

o Ranger’s update bid total: $7,732,907.55 

o Approved Contract amount: $8,212,552.00 

o Contract Amount Contingency: $479,644.45 

 In October, the Board approved CO #1 for Ranger Construction which included four (4) 

change order requests for various parts of the project. The total for the CO request is 

$1,150,877.04; however, with the contingency already included in the contract price, the 

total will only increase by $671,232.59, bringing the new contract total to $8,883,847.59. 

 Staff presented the approved CO to Ranger with the numbers as stated above, but they 

have requested the original contract total on the Change Order reference their actual bid 

total included in the contract ($7,732,907.55) and the full amount of the change order 

($1,150,877.04). The updated contract total after approval of the change order is the 

same, so staff has no issues with the update.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of the Amended Change Order #1 for Contract 22-25-008-1 to Ranger 

Construction for the FDRE of Ash  

2. Take no action.  

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing, County Manager 

Funding Source: TSPLOST, change order previously approved. No additional funding with this 

requested amendment.  

Attachments: Ranger Agreement and Updated Change Order Form with Documentation 

126

Item XI. 4.



127

Item XI. 4.



128

Item XI. 4.



129

Item XI. 4.



130

Item XI. 4.



131

Item XI. 4.



132

Item XI. 4.



133

Item XI. 4.



134

Item XI. 4.



135

Item XI. 4.



136

Item XI. 4.



137

Item XI. 4.



138

Item XI. 4.



139

Item XI. 4.



140

Item XI. 4.



141

Item XI. 4.



142

Item XI. 4.



143

Item XI. 4.



Amended Change Order # 1

 
 

Project: 22-25-008-1 – FDRE of Ash Roads 

Contract Date: June 21, 2022 

Change Order Effective Date: October 4, 2022 

Change Order Issued to: Ranger Construction Industries, Inc. 

    1200 Elboc Way 

    Winter Garden, FL 34787 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Total 

1 Change Order Request 1 $30,192.00 

      -Clean and Video existing cross drain pipes on streets in contract  

2 Change Order Request 2  (-$39,792.68) 

      -Change of Scope to Scuffletown  

3 Change Order Request 3 $305,822.72 

      -Increase limits on Old Dixie Highway  up to Ardmore Oakey Road  

4 Change Order Request 4 $854,655.00 

      -Change of Scope to Corinth Church Road  

   

   

 TOTAL $1,150,877.04 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 7,732,970.55 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 0 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 7,732,970.55 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order.............................$ 1,150,877.04 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be...........................$ 8,883,847.59 

The Contract Time will be increased by _0_ days 

The Time allowed for completion is therefore 11/27/2022 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Ranger Construction Industries, Inc. 

804 S. Laurel Street     1200 Elboc Way 

Springfield, GA 31329     Winter Garden, FL 34787 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

144

Item XI. 4.



145

Item XI. 4.



146

Item XI. 4.



147

Item XI. 4.



148

Item XI. 4.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Letter of Intent for Lease Agreement between Effingham County Board of 

Commissioners and the State Properties Commission for the Department of Juvenile Justice, 

Lease #8588 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department:  

Meeting Date: January 4, 2022  

Item Description: Approval of Lease #8588 between Effingham County Board of 

Commissioners and the State Properties Commission for the Department of Juvenile Justice for 

the property located at 768 Georgia Highway 119 South, Springfield, GA. 31329.  

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Letter of Intent for Lease 

#8588 between Effingham County Board of Commissioners and the State Properties 

Commission for the Department of Juvenile Justice.  

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The new lease agreement will have an initial term of July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023 

with five (5) annual renewal periods. The monthly rental rate will be $1,725.00 for the 

initial term, and be increased to $1,776.00 for the renewal periods.  

 There is a list of tenant improvements and repairs listed in the letter of intent. The tenant 

has been informed that while some of the smaller items will be handled by County staff, 

the larger requests will be handled when their current building is renovated.  

 Once this letter of intent is approved, the State Properties Commission will send the 

official lease agreement for execution.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Letter of Intent for Lease Agreement between Effingham County Board of 

Commissioners and the State Properties Commission for the Department of Juvenile 

Justice, Lease #8588 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Administrative Staff 

Funding Source: 

Attachments: 

1. Letter of Intent for Lease Agreement between Effingham County Board of 

Commissioners and the State Properties Commission for the Department of Juvenile 

Justice, Lease #8588 

 

 

 

 

149

Item XI. 5.



Page 1 of 8 

9/6/2022 

Ms. Stephanie Johnson 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
601 N. Laurel Street 
Springfield, Georgia 31329 
912‐754‐2123 
sjohnson@effinghamcounty.org 

RE: Lease #8588 – 768 Georgia Highway 119 South, Springfield, Georgia 31329 

Dear Ms. Stephanie: 

Thank you for your efforts in providing information to State Properties Commission (“Tenant”) and the 

Department of Juvenile Justice (“Occupying Agency”) regarding their lease of the space at the above referenced 

address.  Please review the following terms and conditions.  Once fully executed, this letter will signal Landlord’s 

agreement to said terms and conditions such that Tenant and Landlord can negotiate and enter into a lease 

agreement.  This is a non‐binding offer from Tenant to Landlord.   

LANDLORD LEGAL 
NAME: 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

LANDLORD NOTICE:  804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, Georgia 31329 

LANDLORD RENT:  804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, Georgia 31329 

PREMISES 
BUILDING 
ADDRESS: 

768 Georgia Highway 119 South 
 Springfield, Georgia 31329 

PREMISES:  2,489 Rentable Square Feet (RSF) in a Multi Tenant building 
The Premises is further described attached hereto in Exhibit A ‐ Floor Plan 

COMMENCEMENT 
DATE: 

July 1, 2022 

TERM:  The initial term of the lease shall be One (1) year. 

RENTAL RATE:  The following Rental Rate schedule outlines the Full Service Gross rate that the Landlord is 
proposing to Tenant for the Term.  Tenant shall not receive any pass‐throughs from 
Landlord as it relates to Operating Expenses for the Building and Premises. 

FISCAL YEAR  PERIOD  MONTHLY RENT  ANNUAL RENT 

2023  7/1/22 – 6/30/23  $1,725.00  $20,700.00 

RENEWAL 
OPTIONS: 

Five (5), one‐year options 

150

Item XI. 5.



Page 2 of 8 
 

RENEWAL OPTION 
RENTAL RATE: 

 

FISCAL YEAR  PERIOD  MONTHLY RENT  ANNUAL RENT 

2024  7/1/23 – 6/30/24  $1,776.00  $21,312.00 

2025  7/1/24 – 6/30/25  $1,776.00  $21,312.00 

2026  7/1/25 – 6/30/26  $1,776.00  $21,312.00 

2027  7/1/26 – 6/30/27  $1,776.00  $21,312.00 

2028  7/1/27 – 6/30/28  $1,776.00  $21,312.00 
 

OPERATING 
EXPENSE:  

Tenant shall not pay increases in Operating Expenses  
 

LANDSCAPING:  Landlord shall be responsible for landscaping and removal of garbage, straw and refuse 
from the exterior and common areas of the building.  
 
Landlord shall also provide quarterly pest control service. 

UTILITIES:  Landlord shall provide and Landlord shall pay for all utilities, except phone and Internet. 

JANITORIAL:  Landlord shall be responsible for all janitorial services and supplies for general cleaning of 
the Premises and common areas. 

SIGNAGE RIGHTS  Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall be permitted to install and place Tenant’s 
name in, on, and around the building, on monument(s)/pylon(s), and at the point of ingress 
to the Premises.  Tenant’s rights to such signage shall be for the entire initial lease term as 
well  as  all  renewal  periods.    All  signage  shall  be  subject  to  local  ordinances  and  all 
government or association approvals. 

TENANT 
IMPROVMENTS & 
REPAIRS 

Landlord, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense, shall complete the following work 
(hereinafter “Tenant Improvement Scope of Work”) within the Premises and/or the 
Building within 120 days following the Commencement Date or such other date agreed 
upon in writing by both Landlord and Tenant.  All design costs, including space planning, 
construction document preparation, and mechanical, electrical, and plumbing (MEP) 
preparation services, and project management costs for the Tenant Improvement Scope of 
Work shall be paid for by Landlord.  Landlord shall enforce warranties provided by 
contractors, vendors, or suppliers providing construction services in the Premises and/or 
Building.  All work shall be done in a good and workmanlike manner at times that do not 
unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s or Occupying Agency’s normal business activities. 
 
 
1. Full Repainting. 

a. Fill any surface depressions and prepare surfaces for repainting.   
b. Provide one coat of primer and two coats (minimum) of finish paint in Occupying 

Agency’s choice of color. Paint finish to be Flat in general areas and eggshell in the 
Breakroom, Restrooms and Janitor Closet. 

c. All door frames are to be repainted semi‐gloss. 
d. Provide allowance for use of up to 1 accent paint on 20% of the partitions. 
e. Occupying Agency shall disconnect and move any personal items, computers or 

other electronic equipment.  
f. Landlord shall move and reinstall Occupying Agency’s furniture. Landlord shall 

remove and reinstall all electrical cover plates, pictures, and other wall‐mounted 
items on those walls being painted.  

 

151

Item XI. 5.



Page 3 of 8 
 

 
2. New Carpet Base. 

a. Remove and dispose of existing carpeting, padding and related material. Prepare 
and/or level the surface as required for proper installation of the new carpet. 

b. The new carpet must be commercial grade, level loop, 26 ounce direct‐glue carpet 
tiles installed with no pad in the hallway area. Carpet shall have permanent stain 
resistant properties that cannot be removed by commercial cleanings or abrasive 
wear. 

c. Occupying Agency shall choose the new carpet from a finish board of qualified 
samples. 

d. Provide continuous roll 4” high rubber base with pre‐formed corners throughout.  
Provide straight base at carpeted floors and coved base at hard surface floors. 

e. Provide appropriate transition strips for flooring material changes between 
dissimilar flooring materials. 

f. Landlord shall be responsible for any moving and reinstallation of Occupying 
Agency’s furniture. Occupying Agency shall disconnect and move any personal 
items, computers, or other electronic equipment. 

g. Landlord shall have the carpet in the Premises professionally steam‐cleaned (and 
then again, each subsequent year by July 1). 
 
 

3. Repair / Replace Ceiling Tiles. 
a. Restore ceiling grid to “like‐new” condition including removing all marks or 

damage.  Repaint existing grid if discolored. Fill and paint any screw holes. 
b. Reuse existing ceiling tile to the fullest extent possible.  Replace all damaged, 

chipped, stained, or discolored tiles with new to match existing as required.  The 
mixing of old and new tiles within one space is not acceptable 

c. Existing grid is to be straightened and leveled as required.  Replace any damaged 
or discolored members. 

d. All lamps within fixtures are to be fully functional and of the same color 
temperature.  Replace all lamps not meeting these criteria as required. 

 
4. Building Exterior Condition Repair. 

a. Handicap spaces shall be clearly marked and in accordance with local regulations. 
b. Landlord shall have the exterior of the building repainted.  
c. Landlord shall ensure the ADA ramp is unlocked and available for use during 

normal business hours. 
 
5. HVAC Test and Balance. 

Landlord shall have a Test and Balance report completed on the Building’s heating, 
ventilation, and air conditioning system to minimize areas of hot and cold caused 
by inadequate or excessive air flow on an annual basis. The Test and Balance 
report shall be provided to the Tenant and/or Occupying Agency on an Annual 
basis. 
   

Landlord and Landlord’s management company both agree that they will not charge 
Tenant a construction management fee. 

152

Item XI. 5.



Page 4 of 8 
 

OBLIGATION TO 
REPAIR 
&MAINTAIN: 

Landlord will be responsible for all interior and exterior repairs and maintenance of the 
Premises at no additional charge to Tenant, except for damage or disrepair caused by the 
gross negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant, its employees, agents or contractors. 

COMPLIANCE WITH 
LAWS: 

Landlord, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense, will be responsible for making the entire 
Building and Premises fully compliant with all required (present and future), local, state 
and federal regulations and guidelines, including those governing American with 
Disabilities Act, fire, life safety, environmental and OSHA codes. 

AUTHORITY:  Landlord represents to Tenant that it is the owner of the Building, that the zoning necessary 
to proceed with the project has been approved, and that Landlord has full authority to enter 
into this LOI and a lease agreement. 

LEASE DOCUMENT:  Tenant  and  Landlord  reserve  the  right  to  address  further  modifications  in  the  lease 
document prior to finalizing this contemplated transaction.  

CONFIDENTIALITY:  This proposal and all discussion related thereto shall be held in confidence by Landlord and 
will not be discussed with third parties except on an “as needed” basis. 

CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST 
DISCLOSURE:  

Landlord  should  be  aware  that  the  project  subject  to  this  Letter  of  Intent  is  a  public 
procurement, and SPC is a public agency.  Pursuant to the laws, rules and Executive Orders 
of the State of Georgia, SPC shall make every effort to avoid even the appearance of a conflict 
of  interest  or  any  impropriety  in  both  the  selection  process  for  this  project  and  the 
negotiation  and  performance  of  any  resulting  lease.    If  a  conflict  of  interest  exists  for 
Landlord, a Conflict of Interest Disclosure must be completed and submitted to SPC and if 
appropriate, Landlord may be required to agree to certain measures to safeguard against 
conflicts or the Project may be discontinued altogether.  Landlord’s responsibility to disclose 
any conflict of interest is ongoing. 

 
 
 
 
If the foregoing offer  is acceptable to Landlord and Landlord agrees to undertake good faith negotiations with 
Tenant  in order to finalize a Lease Document embodying the terms set forth above, please execute this  letter 
where indicated below and return a copy to our office (via email).    If you have any questions or would  like to 
discuss, please call my cell phone. 
 

 

 

Dave Curry 

Leasing Specialist  

270 Washington Street, SW 

Suite 2‐129 

Atlanta, Georgia 30334 

Cell: 678‐951‐2394 

david.curry@spc.ga.gov 

153

Item XI. 5.



Page 5 of 8 
 

SPC Website | Connecting People & 

Workspaces 

 

 

 

The remainder of this page intentionally left blank 

154

Item XI. 5.



Page 6 of 8 
 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED THIS ____ DAY OF _______, 2022. 

 

Landlord:  Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 

By: __________________________________   

 

Name: ________________________________ 

                    (print name) 

Its: __________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

155

Item XI. 5.



Page 7 of 8 
 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED THIS ____ DAY OF _______, 2022. 

 

Occupying Agency:  Department of Juvenile Justice 

 

By: __________________________________   

 

Name: ________________________________ 

                      (print name) 

 

Its: __________________________________ 

 

By signing, the Occupying Agency approves this Letter of Intent as to content including monetary obligations 

that will be incurred by the Occupying Agency subsequent to the execution of the lease by the State 

Properties Commission and the Landlord, and upon assignment of the Premises to such Occupying Agency by 

the State Properties Commission. 

 

156

Item XI. 5.



Page 8 of 8 
 

Exhibit A 

Floor Plan 

 

 

157

Item XI. 5.



158

Item XI. 5.



159

Item XI. 5.



160

Item XI. 5.



161

Item XI. 5.



162

Item XI. 5.



163

Item XI. 5.



164

Item XI. 5.



165

Item XI. 5.



166

Item XI. 5.



167

Item XI. 5.



168

Item XI. 5.



169

Item XI. 5.



170

Item XI. 5.



171

Item XI. 5.



172

Item XI. 5.



173

Item XI. 5.



174

Item XI. 5.



175

Item XI. 5.



176

Item XI. 5.



177

Item XI. 5.



178

Item XI. 5.



179

Item XI. 5.



180

Item XI. 5.



181

Item XI. 5.



182

Item XI. 5.



183

Item XI. 5.



184

Item XI. 5.



185

Item XI. 5.



186

Item XI. 5.



187

Item XI. 5.



188

Item XI. 5.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Amendments to Article II – Definitions, Article III-General Provisions, and Article V - 

Uses Permitted in Districts, Section 5.12 Industrial Districts 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 15, 2022  
Item Description: Report on proposed revisions to Definitions and Section 5.12. I-1 Industrial districts. 
 
Summary Recommendation: Information on proposed I-1 industrial district revisions is provided for 
discussion and guidance. 
  
Executive Summary/Background:  

 The revisions include an update and expansion of Zoning Ordinance Definitions, to include shipping 

containers and shipping container facilities; revisions to section 5.12 I-1 Industrial districts, to clarify 

procedures; revisions to section 3.3 Accessory structures, to clarify permitted uses of shipping 

containers as accessory structures; and, a proposed new section 3.16A Shipping Container Facility, 

which includes requirements for site planning. 

 The Port of Savannah is home to the largest single terminal container facility of its kind in North 

America, encompassing 1,345 acres. The site has 36 container cranes and 158 rubber-tired gantry 

cranes to handle containers on-site.  $8m in federal funding was used to modify three existing 

intermodal railyards in the southeast, and to establish two local truck-served yards in Statesboro and 

Savannah to accept containers for storage. These facilities have reduced the number of containers 

stored at the port by 25%, and cut the backlog of ships waiting for berth space. Use of intermodal rail 

facilities has reduced congestion and improved highway safety.  However, there remains a steady 

demand for shipping container storage facilities on sites close to the port, and an excess supply of 

containers available for use as accessory structures. 

 The proposed revisions will provide guidance and standards for staff and applicants who are seeking 

to use a single shipping container or develop a shipping container yard. 

 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Provide input to staff. 

2. Take no action. 

Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: N/A 
 
Department Review: Development Services 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Attachments: 

1. Proposed ordinance revisions: Definitions and I-1 Industrial Districts 
 
 

189

Item XI. 6.



ARTICLE III. - GENERAL PROVISIONS  

3.3 - Accessory structures in residential districts.  

3.3.1 Accessory structures in the R and PD-R residential districts may be erected in any requi red court 
within any a side or rear yard, and accessory structures in the AR-1 and AR- 2 agricultural residential 
districts may be erected in the front, side, or rear yard, provided they conform to the following:  

A. Maximum Height: one and a half (1.5) story or fifteen (15) feet. above finished grade in the R and 
PD-R districts; thirty-five (35) feet in AR-1 and AR-2 districts.  

B. An accessory structure shall not be less than five (5) feet from the rear property line and not less 
than five 10 (5) feet from interior side setback lines.  

C. An accessory structure shall not be less than 10 ft. from a principal structure.  

D. Not more than two accessory structures, including a detached garage, shall be located in any R 
or PD-R district, on one lot.  

 

3.3.2 Accessory structures in the AR- I and AR-2 agricultural residential districts may be placed in the 
front yard , where theon a property isof at least five (5) acres and not in a platted subdivision. All 
structures on the property must comply with the front setback requirements for a principal structure.  

A. Accessory structures shall not be erected on a lot prior to construction of a principal structure, 
except for agricultural purpose storage buildings in the AR-1 zoning district, where the property is 
at least five (5) acres, and not in a platted subdivision. 

B. Accessory structures in the R, PD-R, and AR zoning districts may not be used for any type of 
commercial operation, except as provided for in section 3.15A and 3.15B. 

C. Accessory structures shall not be used as a dwelling unit. 

3.3.3. A shipping container may be utilized as an accessory building in anthe AR-1 and AR-2 zoning 
districts, provided it shall conform to the following:   

A. Containers shall be painted in solid neutral colors. No writing or advertising of any kind shall be 
permitted.  

B. A slab foundation shall be required and shall meet building code requirements for an accessory 
structure.  

C. Containers shall meet the required side and rear yard setback requirements for an accessory 
structure, and shall be placed no nearer than 10 feet from a primary structure. 

D. Containers shall not be placed in the front yard. 

E. Containers shall not be stacked above the height of a single container.  

F. Containers shall be subject to lot coverage requirements.  

G. Containers shall only be placed on AR-1 and AR-2 lots that meet the minimum lot size for the 
district.  

H. The number of shipping containers on AR-1 and AR-2 lots shall be limited to one (1) container 
per acre of land, to a maximum of five (5) containers on a parcel. 

190

Item XI. 6.



I. No electricity or plumbing shall be connected to a shipping container. 

J. Ventilation is not required. 

K. No hazardous materials may be stored in a shipping container. 

L. Shipping containers shall be secured from entry by children and the general public when not 
attended. 

M. Shipping containers used for storage of equipment and supplies, and associated with an 
approved building construction project, shall be permitted to remain on site until the approval of 
the project’s final building inspection, or expiration of the building permit, whichever is less. 

 

 

191

Item XI. 6.



Page 1 of 1 

 

ARTICLE II. - DEFINITIONS  

2.72A Shipping Container. A receptacle designed for intermodal transport of cargo aboard ship, 

truck trailer, or rail car, and which exhibits features designed to facilitate the movement of 

containerized cargo, including but not limited to corner fittings for pins, design for stacking, size 

dimensions of eight (8) feet wide by eight (8) or ten (10) feet high by twenty (20), thirty-five (35), or 

forty (40) feet in length, and which is otherwise designed and constructed in conformance with 

standards for shipping containers as set forth by the International Standards Organization. 

2.72B Shipping Container Facility. A facility that provides storage for shipping containers awaiting 

transport or next use. 

192

Item XI. 6.



5.12 - I-1 Industrial districts.  

5.12.1 LI-Light industrial permitted uses.  

All commercial uses are allowed in the I district.  

The following uses shall be permitted in the Light Industrial district, provided that such uses 

meet all the requirements of this section and all other provisions established in this Code.  

1.  Assembly or fabrication of previously manufactured parts:  

a.  Apparel and other textile products;  

b.  Electronic and other electric equipment, electrical generator and distribution 

equipment;  

c.  Fabric samples;  

d.  Furniture and fixtures;  

e.  Industrial machinery and equipment;  

f.  Instruments and related products;  

g.  Lumber and wood products, excluding the processing of material for the production 

of paper and allied products;  

h.  Metal products;  

i.  Plastic and rubber products;  

j.  Transportation equipment.  

2.  Boat sales and repairs.  

3.  Automotive sales and repairs.  

4.  Automotive storage, excluding junk yards.  

5.  Florist—retail and wholesale.  

6.  Laboratories.  

7.  Manufacturing (light) of, including but not limited to the following:  

a.  Bakery products;  

b.  Beverages, including alcoholic beverages;  

c.  Communication equipment;  

d.  Computer and office equipment;  

e.  Electrical lighting and wiring equipment;  

f.  Electronic equipment;  

g.  Fabricated metals, excluding use of blast furnaces and drop forges;  

h.  Grain mill products;  

i.  Audio and visual equipment;  

193

Item XI. 6.



j.  Appliances;  

k.  Ice;  

l.  Meat products, excluding slaughtering, dressing, and rendering;  

m.  Medical instruments and supplies;  

n.  Pharmaceutical products;  

o.  Biodiesel in an enclosed system.  

8.  Offices.  

9.  Printing and publishing.  

10.  Recycling centers.  

11.  Repair of any goods, equipment, and vehicles of which the manufacture, assembly or 

sales are permitted in this district.  

12.  Research facilities.  

13.  Vocational schools.  

14.  Utility operations centers.  

15.  Ready-mix concrete facilities.  

5.12.1A HI-Heavy industrial permitted uses.  

Heavy Industrial uses must meet the required buffer standards.  

1.  Manufacturing (heavy) of:  

a.  Aerospace vehicles and parts  

b.  Automobiles and parts  

c.  Paper  

d.  Lumber  

e.  Concrete pipe  

f.  Asphalt  

g.  Boats  

h.  Grain mill products  

i.  Sugar  

j.  Wood chips  

k.  Ethanol  

l.  Chemicals  

m.  Plastics  

2.  Energy plant  

3.  Reserved.  

194

Item XI. 6.



4.  Railroad switchyards  

5.  Metal plating  

6.  Metal smelting  

7.  Recycling centers  

8.  Warehousing  

Buffers. Buffers for the industrial district shall meet the following minimum guidelines from 

the adjacent property line:  

Proposed use  Adjacent use  

 

R-district  

or  

single  

-family  

subdivision 

exterior 

boundary*  

AR-1 

or 

AR-2  

Multi-  

family  

Commercial, 

Institutional**  

Light 

Industrial  

Heavy 

Industrial**  

R-districts or single-

family subdivision 

exterior boundary*  

15 feet  
15 

feet  

20 

feet  
30 feet  300 feet  300 feet  

AR-1 or AR-2  15 feet  
15 

feet  

20 

feet  
30 feet  150 feet  300 feet  

Multifamily  20 feet  
20 

feet  

15 

feet  
20 feet  150 feet  300 feet  

Commercial,  

Institutional**  
30 feet  

30 

feet  

20 

feet  
15 feet  50 feet  150 feet  

Light Industrial**  300 feet  
150 

feet  

300 

feet  
50 feet  25 feet  25 feet  

Heavy Industrial**  300 feet  
300 

feet  

300 

feet  
150 feet  25 feet  25 feet  

  

195

Item XI. 6.



For projects that meet two out of the three non-metropolitan thresholds for DRI review the 

required buffer screening may be lessened to allow for architectural views upon approval of the 

zoning administrator.  

Please see buffer ordinance for required plantings  

5.12.1B HI-Heavy industrial conditional uses.  

The following uses may be permitted on a conditional basis upon approval of the board of 

commissioners after review by the planning board.  

1.  Junkyards.  

2. Shipping Container Facility, as provided in Article III, Section 3.16A.  

The board of commissioners and planning board in reviewing the conditional use application, 

may consider the following factors:  

a.  The effect the proposed activity will have on traffic flow along adjoining streets;  

b.  Ingress and egress to the property;  

c.  The number, size and types of signs proposed for the site;  

d.  The amount and location of open space;  

e.  Protective screening, either natural vegetation and/or berms, and fencing, to screen 

the use from public view;  

f.  Hours and manner of operation;  

g.  Outdoor lighting;  

h.  Compatibility with surrounding land use; and, 

i. The effect of noise, dust, debris or other external impacts of the use on the 

surrounding uses.  

5.12.2 All proposed uses not listed within section 5.12.1 are subject to review by the planning 

board and approval by the planning board and board of commissioners in accordance with 

the following procedures:  

5.12.2.1 Submission of plans. The owner of a tract of land zoned or permitted by conditional 

use for industrial use shall submit to the planning board and board of commissioners for 

its review a site plan for the use and development of such tract of land. It shall then be 

the duty of the planning board and board of commissioners to investigate and ascertain 

whether the proposed activity complies with all the provisions of this chapter which 

pertain to section 3.16A or I (Industrial) districts. The board of commissioners may 

determine that a proposed activity is similar to those uses listed within section 5.12.1 or 

that the use is not similar. If the proposed activity is considered to be a similar use, said 

activity may be permitted by right. If the proposed activity is not similar to those uses 

listed within section 5.1.11, the use shall be subject to the approval of the county 

commission after review and recommendation by the planning board, subject to such 

conditions deemed necessary and appropriate by the board of commissioners to protect 

the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Effingham County and to 

promote the purposes of this chapter. The planning board and board of commissioners 

196

Item XI. 6.



may employ experts in specific fields as needed, and as funds are available, to 

determine whether a proposed use meets the required performance standards.  

5.12.2.2 Submission requirements. Design and operation plans shall be submitted to the 

zoning official administrator and consist of at least the following:  

1.  Name, address, and telephone number of petitioner, architect, surveyor, engineer of 

designer.  

2.  Names and addresses of all property owners of the site.  

3.  Zoning district classification of adjoining land.  

4.  Site plan to include the following:  

a.  Location and dimensions of existing and/or proposed structures with the type of 

usage designated.  

b.  Proposed and existing access and egress.  

c.  Proposed and existing right-of-ways.  

d.  Proposed and existing easements.  

e.  Proposed and existing water, sewer, and storm-water facilities.  

f.  Proposed and existing buffers.  

g.  Setbacks.  

h.  Streams, lakes, and jurisdictional wetland areas.  

i.  Proposed waste treatment/handling facilities.  

j.  Proposed parking.  

k.  Proposed outdoor lighting and signage.  

l.  Proposed hours of operation.  

m.  Traffic study.  

n.  Where the noise generated by the proposed development is expected to exceed 55 

dB(A) at any point along the property line, the developer shall provide a detailed 

proposal for noise-reduction measures and shall depict said improvements on all site 

plans.  

o. A dust and debris mitigation plan to keep the roads clean. 

5.  Written report outlining the industrial operation, schedule of development, and listing 

the toxic and/or hazardous materials regulated by local, state, or federal regulations, 

including disposal/handling plans of said materials.  

5.12.3 Referral and authorization. A written report of its findings shall be furnished by the 

planning board to the county commissioners. The planning board may suggest disapproval, 

recommend the plan as submitted, or may modify, alter, adjust, or amend the plan before 

recommendation, and in recommending it, may propose the prescribing of other conditions. 

The report of the planning board to the county commission shall include a finding as to 

whether the proposed use is consistent with the provisions and requirements of the zoning 

197

Item XI. 6.



ordinance. If the county commissioners find that the proposed use is consistent with the 

purpose of the zoning ordinance to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare, it 

may approve the rezoning.  

5.12.4 Performance standards. All industrial permitted and conditional uses must conform to the 

following performance standards:  

5.12.4.1 Smoke. The emission from any air contaminant source the opacity of which is equal 

to or greater than 40 percent shall not be permitted. Furthermore, from fuel-burning 

equipment, visible emissions the opacity of which is equal to or greater than 20 percent, 

except for one six-minute period per hour of not more than 27 percent opacity, shall not 

be permitted. Any operation, process, handling, transportation, or storage facility which 

may result in fugitive dust shall take all reasonable precautions to prevent such dust 

from becoming airborne. The percent opacity from any fugitive dust source shall not 

equal or exceed 20 percent. "Opacity" means the degree to which emissions reduce the 

transmission of light and obscure the view of an object in the background, and is 

expressed in terms of percent opacity. The measurement of percent opacity does not 

include the measurement of the obscuration of view due to uncombined water droplets. 

Any determination of the percent opacity shall be made by the arithmetic average of six 

minutes of data.  

Any visual observation or determination of opacity taken for the purpose of determining 

compliance with any requirement of this standard shall be made by personnel certified 

according to procedures established for such certification by the Georgia EPD or by US 

EPA to make such observation or determination.  

5.12.4.2 Odor. Any process which may involve the creation or emission of any odors shall 

be provided with a secondary safeguard system, so that control will be maintained if the 

primary safeguard system should fail. There is hereby established as a guide in 

determining such quantities of offensive odors Table 3 (Odor Thresholds) in Chapter 5, 

Air Pollution Abatement Manual, copyright 1951, by Manufacturing Chemists 

Association, Inc., Washington, D.C. Where said publication gives range of figures a 

simple average of these shall be used.  

5.12.4.3 Toxic gases. The emission of gases or fumes injurious to persons or property 

beyond the lot lines occupied by the use is prohibited.  

5.12.4.4 Glare and heat. Glare and heat from arc welding, acetylene torch cutting, or similar 

processes shall be performed so as not to produce glare which is visible, or 

objectionable heat beyond the property line of the lot on which the operation is located. 

Direct glare from incandescent exposed lights shall not be visible from adjoining streets 

or properties. All lighting shall be downward facing and shielded.  

5.12.4.5 Wastewater. No discharge is permitted at any point in any private sewage disposal 

system or stream or into the ground of any materials in such a way or of such nature or 

temperature as could contaminate any water supply, or otherwise cause the emission of 

dangerous objectionable elements, except in accordance with the standards as approved 

by water pollution control boards of appropriate agencies of the state department of 

natural resources.  

198

Item XI. 6.



Furthermore, no accumulation of solid wastes conducive to the breeding of rodents or 

insects shall be permitted.  

5.12.4.6 Storage of toxic or hazardous wastes, chemicals, and materials. Any applicant who 

intends to store, handle, or transport toxic or hazardous waste, chemicals, or materials 

shall submit to the county fire marshal a listing of all compounds and contents to be 

contained on the proposed site. Upon approval by the county fire marshal that the use, 

transport, and storage of said materials meets the federal and state guidelines, the 

applicant shall be issued a permit authorizing such secured storage. Disposal of toxic or 

hazardous wastes, chemicals, and materials is prohibited.  

5.12.4.7 Vibration. Any use creating intense earthshaking vibration shall be set back as far 

as possible from the lot lines on all sides, and in no case shall any such vibration be 

perceptible along any lot line.  

5.12.4.8 Buffer/screening. Please refer to section 3.4 buffers ordinance.  

5.12.5 Uses prohibited.  

1.  Residential subdivisions  

2.  Single-family residences  

3.  Churches  

4.  Single-family dwellings  

5.  Multifamily dwellings  

6.  Childcare centers (a childcare center may be allowed as a conditional use to make 

childcare available to the employees of an industrial site).  

5.12.6 Reserved.  

199

Item XI. 6.



 

 Page 1 of 2 

3.16A – Shipping Container Facility.   
a. Acreage. A Shipping Container Facility shall be required to operate on fifty (50) or more 

acres of contiguous land holdings, under the ownership of the owner / operator. 

b. Buffers. A Shipping Container Facility shall be subject to the buffer requirements for 
Heavy Industrial uses pursuant to Section 3.4 Buffers.  A variance to the buffer 
requirements may be requested, according to the following: 

a. The width of the vegetative buffer required in HI-Heavy Industrial may be 
reduced six (6) feet for every one (1) feet of berm height. 

c. Facility Operation Limitations. Open-air stacking of Shipping Container shall not exceed 
two (2) Shipping Containers. All repairs, with the exception of general maintenance and 
minor repairs, shall only occur within an enclosed building. 

d. Signs. All signage shall meet the requirements for signs in industrial districts per Part II, 
Chapter 62-Signs, Article III, Section 3.38 Signs. 

e. Parking and access. Parking and access for customers and employees must be provided 
on-site, pursuant to Section 3.30 Off-street access control and parking. 

f. Hours of Operation. Days and hours of operation requiring access by customers and/or 
clients shall be Monday through Saturday, daylight hours only, except in cases of 
emergencies, natural disasters, or required maintenance. 

g. Uses permitted. Shipping Container Storage, including offices related to the business 
operations.  

h. Uses not permitted: Any use which is ineligible for state or local permits, or an Effingham 
County Occupational Tax License.  

i. Performance Standards. Shipping Container Storage Facilities are subject to Section 
5.12.4 Performance Standards.  

j. Approval. A Shipping Container Facility conditional use application shall be submitted for 
review by the Planning Board and approval by the Board of Commissioners.  

k. Transportation network and Road Impacts.  

a. A Traffic Impact Study shall be required, pursuant to the Effingham County Traffic 
Impact Study Requirements.   

b. All vehicles entering and exiting the site are subject to Section 74-8 Designated 
Truck Routes. 

c. The property on which the Shipping Container Facility is proposed must have 
frontage on a paved roads built to county or GDOT standards.  

d. No shipping container facility operators or transportation partners, customers, 
etc., shall damage any portion of a county road or right-of-way or cause a road 
to become impassable or unsafe to normal passenger traffic. 

l. Minimum requirements for operating a Shipping Container Facility using a county road 
access: 

a. Entrance drive/road into shipping container facility property is to be paved from 
edge of existing road to county right-of-way or to radius point. Pavement is to 

200

Item XI. 6.



 

 Page 2 of 2 

be at minimum 8" thick graded aggregate base course with 3” thick asphalt 
surface course. 

b. Pavement section is to be twenty-four (24) foot minimum width at County right-
of-way, with a thirty (30) foot radius on each side. 

c. Figure 1 of this section illustrates the shipping container facility entrance road 
requirements. 

d. A driveway culvert is to be installed if the right-of-way contains a roadside ditch 
or drainage swale, to allow for the continuation of drainage control along the 
right-of-way 

e. The shipping container facility operator must install a sign facing the county 
road. The sign shall include the following information:  

i. Operator/company name  

ii. Operator/company phone number 

f. "Trucks Entering Road" signs are also to be installed at locations to be 
determined by the county engineer. A "Stop" sign is to be placed in the right-of-
way to control trucks entering a county road from the shipping container facility. 

 

Figure 1 Shipping Container Facility Entrance Road Requirements 
 

 

 

201

Item XI. 6.

https://mcclibrary.blob.core.usgovcloudapi.net/codecontent/13113/379347/3.17.5.png


Staff Report 
 
Subject: Resolution to impose a moratorium on rezoning for I-1 Industrial development. 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 15, 2022   
Item Description: Consideration of a resolution to impose a moratorium on rezoning for I-1 
Industrial development, for a period of fifty (50) days, while the county considers changes to its zoning 
ordinance. 
 
Summary Recommendation: The interests of the public necessitate the enactment of a moratorium 
for health, safety, morals, aesthetics, and general welfare purposes. 
  
Executive Summary/Background:  

 As a part of planning, zoning, and growth management, the Board of Commissioners of 

Effingham County has been reviewing the County’s Comprehensive Plan and the Zoning 

Ordinance, and has studied the County’s best estimates of the type of development that can 

be anticipated within the unincorporated areas. 

 The Board of Commissioners is committed to growth management that promotes health, 

safety, morals, aesthetics and the general welfare of the citizens of Effingham County. This 

includes management of congestion on County roads, security of the public from crime 

and other dangers, promotion of health and general welfare of residents, and protection of 

the aesthetic qualities of the County including access to air and light.  

 The County is experiencing development pressures that include an increasing number of 

applications to rezone land for industrial development in the I-1 zoning district, and has 

determined that a moratorium on new applications is necessary. 

 The County Attorney has reviewed and approved the resolution as to form. 
 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1 – Approve the resolution to impose a moratorium on rezoning land for I-1 Industrial development. 
2 – Take no action. 
 
Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: N/A 
 
Department Review: Development Services; County Attorney 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Attachments: 

1. Moratorium on rezoning land for I-1 Industrial development. 

202

Item XI. 7.



 
Page 1 of  4 

STATE OF GEORGIA ) 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY ) 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

RESOLUTION ENACTING A MORATORIUM FOR A PERIOD OF FIFTY DAYS ON 

INDUSTRIAL REZONINGS FOR PROPERTY TO BE USED FOR I-1 INDUSTRIAL 

DISTRICT PURPOSES WHILE THE COUNTY CONSIDERS CHANGES TO ITS 

ZONING ORDINANCE 

 

 WHEREAS, recent development trends in the County suggest that current trends for I-1 

Industrial district use may not be adequately addressed by the current County Zoning Ordinance; 

and  

  

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia (hereinafter 

referred to as “Board”) is vested with substantial powers, rights and functions to generally regulate 

the practice, conduct or use of property for the purposes of maintaining health, morals, safety, 

security, peace, and the general welfare of the unincorporated areas of the County; and 

 

WHEREAS, Georgia law recognizes that local governments may impose moratoria on 

zoning decisions, building permits, and other development approvals where exigent 

circumstances warrant the same, pursuant to the case law found at Taylor v. Shetzen, 212 Ga. 

101, 90 S.E.2d 572 (1955); Lawson v. Macon, 214 Ga. 278, 104 S.E.2d 425 (1958); and most 

recently City of Roswell et al v. Outdoor Systems, Inc., 274 Ga. 130, 549 S.E.2d 90 (2001); 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Courts take judicial notice of a local government's inherent ability to 

impose moratoria on an emergency basis; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Georgia Supreme Court, in the case of DeKalb County v. Townsend, 

243 Ga. 80 (1979), held that, “To justify a moratorium, it must appear first, that the interests 

of the public generally, as distinguished from those of a particular class, require such 

interference; and second, that the means are reasonably necessary for the accomplishment 

of the purpose, and not unduly oppressive upon individuals.” The Bo a r d  h a s  found that 

the interests of the public necessitate the enactment of a moratorium for health, safety, morals 

and general welfare purposes by means which are reasonable and not unduly oppressive; and 

 

WHEREAS,  the  Board therefore  considers it paramount that land use regulation 

continues in the most orderly and predictable fashion with the least amount of disturbance to 

landowners and to the citizens of the County.  The Board has always had a strong interest in 

growth management so as to promote the traditional police power goals of health, safety, 

morals,  aesthetics  and  the  general  welfare  of  the  community;  and in  particular the 

lessening of congestion on County roads, security of the public from crime and other 

dangers,  promotion  of  health  and  general  welfare  of  its  citizens,  protection  of  the 

203

Item XI. 7.



 
Page 2 of  4 

aesthetic  qualities  of  the  County  including  access  to  air  and  light,  and facilitation of 

the adequate provision of transportation and other public requirements; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the belief of the Bo ar d  that the concept of “public welfare” is 

broad and inclusive; that the values it represents are spiritual as well as physical, aesthetic 

as well as monetary; and that it is within the power of the Board “to determine that a 

community should be beautiful as well as healthy, spacious as well as clean, well balanced as 

well as carefully patrolled,” Berman v. Parker, 348 U.S. 26, 75 S.Ct. 98 (1954), it is also the 

opinion of the Board that “general welfare” includes the valid public objectives of aesthetics, 

conservation of the value of existing lands and buildings within the County, making the most 

appropriate use of resources, preserving neighborhood characteristics, enhancing and 

protecting the economic well-being of the community, facilitating adequate provision of public 

services, and the preservation of the resources of the County; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board is, and has been interested in developing a cohesive and coherent 

policy regarding i n d u s t r i a l  growth and zoning in the County, and have intended to 

promote community development through stability, predictability and balanced growth which 

will further the prosperity of the County as a whole; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board has directed the Development Services Department to evaluate 

possible revisions to the Effingham County Zoning Ordinance and development regulations with 

respect to the regulation of I-1 Industrial development so as to address current development trends; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the citizens of the County to place a 

moratorium on the application and issuance of industrial rezonings until the review is 

completed. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA, in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof, as follows: 

 

1.  In order to adequately study said issues and any zoning ordinance amendments determined to 

be required, the Board finds as follows:  the zoning ordinance and comprehensive land use plan 

require review as they relate to I-1 Industrial; substantial detriment and irreparable harm may result 

if further regulation of I-1 Industrial is needed and not implemented; said review of the ordinance 

and plan requires that a cessation of limited duration of rezoning be implemented with regard to I-

1 Industrial developments; and it is necessary and in the public’s interest to delay, for a reasonable 

and finite period of time, the acceptance or processing of any applications for such developments 

to ensure that the design, development, and location are consistent with the long-term planning 

objectives of the County. 

 

204

Item XI. 7.



 
Page 3 of  4 

2.  There is hereby imposed a moratorium on the acceptance by County staff of rezoning or the 

acceptance of applications for rezonings for the development of industrial developments as such 

as provided for under the zoning ordinance of the County.  For purposes of this moratorium, the 

“industrial developments” are those that are currently allowed under the County zoning ordinance 

in the following zones: 

 

Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 

 

3.  The duration of this moratorium shall be until the County adopts amendments to its zoning 

ordinance, abandons this effort by vote of the Board, or until January 4, 2023. 

 

4.  This moratorium shall have no effect upon rezonings occurring before the effective date of 

this Resolution. 

 

5. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Board that all sections, paragraphs, sentences, 

clauses and phrases of this Resolution are and were, upon their enactment, believed by the 

Board to be fully valid, enforceable and constitutional. It is hereby declared to be the intention 

of the Board that, to the greatest extent allowed by law, each and  every section, paragraph,  

sentence, clause  or phrase  of this  Resolution  is severable from every other section, 

paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase therein. It is hereby further declared to be the intention 

of the Board, to the greatest extent allowed by law, no section, paragraph, sentence, clause or 

phrase of this Resolution is mutually dependent upon any other section, paragraph, sentence, 

clause or phrase of this Resolution. In the event that any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or 

section of this Resolution shall, for any reason whatsoever, be declared invalid, 

unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable by the valid judgment or decree of any court of 

competent jurisdiction, it is the express intent of the B o a r d  that such invalidity, 

unconstitutionality or unenforceability shall, to the greatest extent allowed by law, not render 

invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable any of the remaining phrases, clauses, 

sentences, paragraphs or sections of the Resolution and that, to the greatest extent allowed by 

law, all remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of the Resolution shall 

remain valid, constitutional, enforceable, and of full force and effect. 

 

6.  All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict with this Resolution are, to the extent of 

such conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

7. The preamble of this Resolution shall be considered to be and is hereby incorporated by 

reference as if fully set out herein. 

 

8. The proper officers and agents of the County are hereby authorized to take any and all further 

actions as may be required in connection with this Resolution. 

 

9. The Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 

205

Item XI. 7.



 
Page 4 of  4 

 SO ADOPTED THIS ____ DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2022. 

 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM , COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

___________________________________ 

WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

        

 

ATTEST:   

 

____________________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON, CLERK 

 

 

 

 

[COUNTY SEAL] 

206

Item XI. 7.



 

 

Staff Report 

 
Subject:    December Meeting Cancellation  

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: 11/15/2022 

Item Description: Consideration to approve to cancel the December 20, 2022 Board of 
Commissioners Meeting  

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requests approval due to the upcoming Christmas Holiday. 
 

Executive Summary: 

During the calendar year there are meeting dates which falls on or near a holiday.  The 

December 20, 2022 meeting is just a few days before Christmas. Staff recommends 

approval to cancel the meeting.   
 

Background: 

This particular holiday is a popular time when Elected Officials and Staff alike plan vacations 
with their families and make preparations for the holiday. Customarily when this time of year 
arrives, essential business of the County has been finalized.  
 

Should the need arise the Board can call for a Special Called meeting to address business 

requiring immediate attention.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to cancel the December 20, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting  
2. Do not approve to cancel the meeting. 

 

Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative number 1  
 

Other Alternatives: Move the meeting to another date.  
 

Department Review: Administration 

 

Funding Source: No funding required 
 

Attachments: None 

207

Item XI. 8.


	Top
	Item X. 1.	R-3 and R-6 revision and R-5 adoption_2nd reading
	Staff Report R-3 and R-6 Revisions and new R-5_11032022
	Article II and V_Ordinance revision_2nd reading

	Item X. 2.	McGraley Rezone - McCall Road
	McGraley McCall
	391-11C&11F 412-24 McGraley McCall

	Item X. 3.	2nd Reading McGraley Rezone - McCall Road
	2nd McGraley McCall
	McGraley McCall

	Item X. 4.	McGraley Rezone - Horsepen
	McGraley Horsepen
	394-29&30 McGraley Horsepen

	Item X. 5.	2nd Reading McGraley Rezone - Horsepen
	2nd McGraley Horsepen
	McGraley Horsepen

	Item XI. 1.	Tax Refund Request_Rex Husband
	Staff Report Tax Assessor Tax Refund Husband
	Rex Husband Tax Refund Request
	Veteran Paper & Deed info
	Property Record Card
	HS Disabled Veteran
	48 -5-40

	Item XI. 2.	CEM Expansion
	1. Staff Report HGB Task Order
	2. NOTICE TO PROCEED

	Item XI. 3.	Central School Reno
	1. Staff Report Central School HGB Task Order
	2. NOTICE TO PROCEED

	Item XI. 4.	Ranger CO update
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Ranger Construction_Contract #22-25-008_FDRE Road Surfacing Project_06212022
	3. Change Order Updated Template
	Change Order Requests 1-4

	Item XI. 5.	DJJ Letter of Intent
	1. Staff Report DJJ Lease
	2. 8588 DJJ (Springfield) FY23 LOI Draft
	3. STATE PROPERTIES COMMISSION DJJ LEASE 1-24-2017

	Item XI. 6.	Report on Proposed I-1 Industrial District
	Staff Report I-1 Proposed Revisions_11032022
	Article III_General Provisions_Accessory and Container_11072022
	Article II Definitions_container
	5.12___I_1_Industrial_districts_containers
	Section 3.16A_Shipping Container Storage_11042022

	Item XI. 7.	Moratorium Resolution
	Staff Report_Resolution on Moratorium_11032022
	2022 Resolution_moratorium_I-1_11032022

	Item XI. 8.	December Meeting Cancellation
	meeting cancel_sr

	Bottom

